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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

x 
SCHIAVI + COMPANY LLC DBA SCHIAVI 
+ DATTANI and DOMINUS
MULTIMANAGER FUND, LTD.,
Individually and on Behalf of All Others
Similarly Situated,

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

TRUST FOR ADVISED PORTFOLIOS, 
INFINITY Q CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, 
LLC, INFINITY Q VOLATILITY ALPHA 
FUND, L.P., INFINITY Q VOLATILITY 
ALPHA OFFSHORE FUND, LTD., 
CHRISTOPHER E. KASHMERICK, JOHN C. 
CHRYSTAL, ALBERT J. DIULIO, S.J., 
HARRY E. RESIS, RUSSELL B. SIMON, 
STEVEN J. JENSEN, JAMES VELISSARIS, 
LEONARD POTTER, SCOTT LINDELL, 
QUASAR DISTRIBUTORS, LLC, U.S. 
BANCORP FUND SERVICES, LLC, 
EISNERAMPER LLP, BONDERMAN 
FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, LP, and 
INFINITY Q MANAGEMENT EQUITY, 
LLC 

Defendants. 
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Plaintiffs Schiavi + Company LLC DBA Schiavi + Dattani’s (“Schiavi and Dattani”)1 and 

Dominus Multimanager Fund, Ltd. (“Dominus”) (collectively, “plaintiffs”), individually and on 

behalf of all other persons similarly situated, by their undersigned attorneys, bring this Complaint 

against defendants Infinity Q Capital Management LLC (“Infinity Q” or the “Adviser”), Trust for 

Advised Portfolios, Infinity Q Volatility Alpha Fund, L.P. (the “Volatility Master Fund”), Infinity 

Q Volatility Alpha Offshore Fund, Ltd. (the “Volatility Feeder Fund”), Christopher E. 

Kashmerick, John C. Chrystal, Albert J. DiUlio, S.J., Harry E. Resis, Russell B. Simon, Steven J. 

Jensen, James Velissaris (“Velissaris”), Leonard Potter, Scott Lindell, Quasar Distributors, LLC, 

U.S. Bancorp Fund Services, LLC, EisnerAmper LLP, Bonderman Family Limited Partnership, 

LP (“Bonderman”), and Infinity Q Management Equity, LLC, and allege the following based upon 

personal knowledge as to plaintiffs and plaintiffs’ own acts, information, and belief as to all other 

matters, based upon, inter alia, the investigation conducted by and through plaintiffs’ attorneys, 

which included, among other things, a review of defendants’ public documents, announcements 

made by defendants, United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings, periodic 

reports, marketing materials, wire and press releases published by and regarding the Infinity Q 

Diversified Alpha Fund (the “Diversified Fund”) and the Volatility Master Fund and the Volatility 

Feeder Fund (collectively, the “Volatility Fund,” and, together with the Diversified Fund, the 

“Funds”),2 analysts’ reports and advisories, and information readily obtainable on the Internet.  

                                                 
1  Schiavi and Dattani has filed a motion for lead plaintiff in a related securities class action, Yang 
v. Trust for Advised Portfolios, et al., No. 1:21-cv-01047 (E.D.N.Y.) (“Yang”), which is unopposed 
by any other movant.  Plaintiffs intend to move to consolidate this action with Yang. 

2 The Diversified Fund is a diversified open-end investment company.  The Volatility Master 
Fund is a limited partnership hedge fund.  The Volatility Feeder Fund is a Cayman Islands 
Exempted Company that operates as a “feeder” fund into the Volatility Fund by effectively 
investing all of its assets into the limited partnership Volatility Fund. 
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Plaintiffs believe that substantial evidentiary support will exist for the allegations set forth herein 

after a reasonable opportunity for discovery. 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is a federal securities action brought on behalf of all persons and entities who 

purchased between December 21, 2018 and February 22, 2021 (the “Class Period”) securities 

issued by the Funds.  This lawsuit seeks to recover the massive damages suffered by plaintiffs and 

the Class (defined below) under the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) and the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”). 

2. This case arises from one of the most egregious investment fund collapses in history 

wherein the Funds lost over 40% of their respective values after a forced liquidation by the SEC 

due to, inter alia, defendants’: (a) manipulation of the pricing methodology for the Funds’ assets; 

(b) failure to employ the valuation methodologies and internal controls policies and procedures 

represented to investors; and (c) material overstatement of the Funds’ net asset value (“NAV”).3  

Throughout the Class Period, and at all relevant times, Infinity Q served as the investment advisor 

that managed the Funds.  The Funds were marketed to investors seeking moderate growth and 

asymmetric returns through a “swap” strategy that would purportedly preserve capital and avoid 

the massive risks of aggressive hedge funds seeking greater returns.  Swaps are bilateral contracts, 

brokered by banks, that traders use to bet on asset prices, interest rates, or other financial trends. 

3. Infinity Q attracted billions of dollars of inflows and boasted of its close connection 

between founder and Chief Investment Officer (“CIO”) Velissaris, and the veteran private equity 

                                                 
3 NAV equals the total value of the cash and securities in a fund, less any liabilities.  The daily 
calculation of the NAV is critical to market confidence and necessary for the market to value the 
shares of any mutual fund. 
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billionaire David Bonderman, the founding partner of private-equity giant TPG.  Infinity Q was 

an outgrowth of the Bonderman’s family wealth management office, Wildcat Capital 

Management, and was established and ultimately overseen by Bonderman.   

4. A now-archived version of Infinity Q’s website states that Infinity Q was “managed 

by David Bonderman’s family office.”  Similarly, Bloomberg, ran an article in 2015 entitled: 

“Bonderman’s Wildcat Family Office Backing Hedge Fund for the Masses.”  The article stated: 

David Bonderman amassed a $3 billion fortune in private equity for 
sophisticated investors.  He’s now selling hedge fund strategies to the masses. 

Bonderman, whose TPG Capital has owned companies such as Continental 
Airlines and retailer J Crew Group Inc., is using a family office that manages a 
portion of his money – Wildcat Capital Management – to back a startup investment 
business.  Infinity Q Capital Management is offering retail and other investors a 
version of the hedge fund programs it uses for the billionaire, said James 
Velissaris, chief investment officer for the new firm. 

Run by Wildcat employees, Infinity Q can sell products such as liquid 
alternative mutual funds to outside investors.  It means Bonderman, 72, can profit 
from the expertise of his personal money managers, who in turn can earn more 
money. 

5. The Funds’ website further underscored the link between Bonderman and the 

Funds: 

Infinity Q Capital Management is a pioneering investment advisor 
managed by David Bonderman’s family office.  The Investment team at Infinity 
Q develops next generation forecasting models to identify persistent behavioral 
biases across global markets.  Infinity Q uses volatility strategies to manage mutual 
funds, hedge funds and separately managed accounts.  Our “quantamental” 
approach combines the depth of private equity with the breadth of quantitative 
research to blend next generation forecasting models with rigorous fundamental 
analysis. 

6. Wildcat Capital Management and Infinity Q were essentially two sides of the same 

coin, being managed by overlapping personnel, employing similar (if not identical) investment 

strategies, and being run out of the same offices.  For example, the Diversified Fund’s Annual 

Reports to Shareholders touted the Diversified Fund’s close association with Wildcat Capital 
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Management, affiliation with Bonderman, and ability to provide exposure to alternative strategies 

used by hedge fund and private equity investors like Bonderman: 

Infinity Q Capital Management is a pioneering investment firm managed by 
a team of professionals who also manage assets for Wildcat Capital Management, 
the family investment office for David Bonderman, the co-founder of $75 Billion 
private equity firm TPG.  The Infinity Q Diversified Alpha Fund (the “Fund”) 
attempts to generate positive absolute returns by providing exposure to several 
“alternative” strategies including Volatility, Equity Long/Short, Relative Value, 
and Global Macro.  Our strategies are intended to have a low correlation to 
equity, fixed income, and credit markets. 

We believe our “quantamental” approach provides a unique investment 
framework.  Our strategies seek to combine the breadth of quantitative investing 
with the depth of private equity investing. 

7. The Funds’ “alternative strategies” referred, in large part, to investments in total 

return swaps.  Total return swaps are contracts by which parties agree to exchange sums equal to 

the income streams produced by specified assets (hereinafter, “swap contracts”). 

8. Because the value of swap contracts can depend on a variety of factors, they have 

the potential to offer returns that do not move in sync with overall stock and bond markets.  The 

opaque nature of swap contracts can also make them difficult to value.  For this reason, Infinity Q 

purportedly relied on models provided by third-party pricing services to determine the value of 

certain of the Funds’ swap contracts for the purpose of calculating the daily NAV. 

9. Infinity Q’s overarching trading strategy appeared to initially pay off, particularly 

during the brunt of the early 2020 selloff related to the COVID-19 pandemic.  In March 2020, the 

Diversified Fund posted a return of about 7%, while the S&P 500 fell 12.4%, its worst month since 

2008.  In June 2020, the Volatility Fund similarly touted “strong annualized returns (23.14%) with 

low correlation (-0.09) and low beta (-0.04) to the S&P 500 since [its February 2017] inception.”  

Based on these ostensibly exceptional returns, investors flocked to the Funds.  According to an 

SEC filing, $787 million was poured into the Diversified Fund in the 12 months ended August 
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2020.  Private marketing materials to prospective investors similarly showed that the Volatility 

Fund experienced significant growth during this time by purportedly employing similarly effective 

investment strategies. 

10. In total, the Funds raised billions of dollars from investors.  Although the offering 

materials for the Funds provided boilerplate risk disclosures, including potential risks associated 

with “Models and Data,” “Manager Risk,” “valuation” risk, and “Misconduct of Infinity Q 

Personnel Third-Party Service Providers,” the materials failed to disclose any known risk that the 

valuations could be based, in part, on third-party valuation models that had been intentionally 

manipulated by Infinity Q.  The Funds’ marketing materials instead boasted of the purportedly 

robust valuation procedures, methodologies, and controls employed by each of the Funds to ensure 

accurate NAV pricing that reflected the true value of the Funds’ assets and that were subject to 

vigorous oversight and cross checks to ensure pricing integrity.  Similarly, the Funds’ offering 

materials omitted and failed to disclose the material risk that investors faced catastrophic losses of 

their capital investment due to improper valuations of the Funds’ large swap and derivatives 

portfolio. 

11. Despite these reassurances, during the Class Period, the Funds’ personnel engaged 

in systematic remarking of the Funds’ assets in order to make the Funds’ NAV appear artificially 

higher.  The Funds have subsequently admitted that a significant portion of the Funds’ portfolios 

were deliberately mismarked for an extended period of time.  As reported by The Wall Street 

Journal in the spring of 2021, one particular valuation was mathematically impossible, a fact 

confirmed by a former Morgan Stanley managing director who reviewed the disclosures.  In 

another instance, the disclosures show Infinity Q entered two nearly identical swaps contracts 

referencing the same index over the same period, yet booked a gain on one that was more than 
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three times as large as the other – an outcome analysts said defied logic.  The Wall Street Journal 

further reported that it interviewed half a dozen equity derivatives traders and academics who 

reviewed Infinity Q’s positions as published in regular disclosures with the SEC.  Those interviews 

and The Wall Street Journal’s analysis of the Funds’ portfolio revealed material departures from 

standard practices in how investments are typically valued. 

12. On or around February 22, 2021, Infinity Q made the unusual move of halting 

redemptions to investors and saying it could no longer value its holdings after at least two 

whistleblowers raised concerns about the Funds to the SEC.  These disclosures subsequently 

prompted a formal ongoing investigation by the regulator.  The SEC informed Infinity Q of 

evidence that the firm’s CIO, defendant Velissaris, had manipulated parameters of third-party 

pricing models used to value its derivatives, leaving Infinity Q unable to accurately value its 

holdings.  Infinity Q also announced that it had barred Velissaris from trading, placed him on 

administrative leave, and needed to reassess the Funds’ previous valuations before returning 

money to investors.  “The Federal Bureau of Investigation and prosecutors at the Manhattan U.S. 

attorney’s office are also investigating” Infinity Q for the same misconduct. 

13. Infinity Q admitted that “‘it was unable to verify that the values it had previously 

determined for the Swaps were reflective of fair value.’”  Infinity Q further admitted that it was 

unable to verify whether the values for positions other than swaps were reliable, and that it could 

not calculate an NAV that would enable it to satisfy requests for redemptions of the Funds’ shares. 

14. Infinity Q has requested that the SEC halt redemptions from the Diversified Fund 

while the Adviser liquidates its assets.  The SEC took the extraordinary step of indefinitely halting 

redemptions in the Diversified Fund’s shares the same day as requested, effective as of February 

19, 2021.  Infinity Q has also halted redemptions and liquidated the assets of the Volatility Fund, 
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after admitting that substantially the same misconduct had occurred with respect to valuing that 

fund’s assets during the Class Period.   

15. On March 11, 2021, the Diversified Fund’s website provided an update on the 

liquidation effort announced in February.  The Diversified Fund stated that, as of two days earlier, 

the Diversified Fund held a total of approximately $1.2 billion in cash or cash equivalents, which 

was over $500 million less than the NAV that the Diversified Fund had calculated just a few weeks 

before. 

16. On June 7, 2021, the Diversified Fund submitted a Plan of Distribution (the “Plan”) 

to the SEC.4  The Plan, which was finalized on November 8, 2021, calls for an interim distribution 

of $500 million to shareholders on a pro rata basis.  The Plan also establishes a Special Reserve, 

holding back $750 million until the Diversified Fund’s liabilities – importantly, including this 

securities litigation – have been resolved.5 

17. Similarly, by October 31, 2021, the Volatility Fund completed the liquidation of its 

assets, other than a small investment in a product run by the wife of defendant Velissaris that she 

has reportedly refused to liquidate.  Although the last reported NAV of the Volatility Fund was 

$1.22 billion (as of February 2021), the Volatility Fund only held $653 million following 

liquidation, confirming that the NAV had been overstated by $567 million. 

18. On February 17, 2022, defendant Velissaris was criminally indicted by the United 

States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) for securities fraud and obstruction of justice for 

                                                 
4 See https://www.infinityqfundliquidation.com/documents.   

5 According to the most recent shareholder update, as of January 31, 2022, the Diversified 
Fund’s total assets were $744,220,877.  The amount remaining in the Special Reserve was 
$742,740,466.  See https://www.infinityqfundliquidation.com/operatingreport. 
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orchestrating a scheme to lie to the Funds’ investors and falsify documents. On the same day, both 

the SEC and the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”) also civilly charged 

Velissaris with, inter alia, fraud for overvaluing the Funds’ assets by more than $1 billion while 

pocketing tens of millions of dollars in fees.  The SEC’s complaint alleged that, from at least 2017 

through February 2021, Velissaris engaged in a fraudulent scheme to overvalue assets held by both 

the Diversified Fund and the Volatility Fund. According to the complaint, Velissaris executed the 

overvaluation scheme by altering inputs and manipulating the code of a third-party pricing service 

used to value the Funds’ assets.  Moreover, Velissaris falsely showed gains on hundreds of swaps 

held by two commodity pools managed by Infinity Q, a CFTC-registered commodity pool 

operator.  The SEC also alleged that, by masking actual performance, Velissaris sought to thwart 

redemptions by investors who likely would have requested a return of their money had they known 

the Funds’ actual performance, particularly in the volatile markets in the wake of the COVID-19 

pandemic.  The SEC complaint further alleged that at times during the pandemic, the Funds’ actual 

values were half of what investors were told. 

19. As a result of these egregious acts, the Funds’ investors have been unable to 

withdraw their money from the Funds, and investors are still waiting and wondering what amount 

they will receive from the wreckage as defendants continue to deplete available assets on legal 

defense costs.6  Adding insult to injury, Infinity Q has effectively held investors’ money hostage 

unless they release defendants from liability, further compounding investor damages. 

                                                 
6 On December 3, 2021, the Diversified Fund made an initial “Interim Distribution” in 
accordance with the terms of the Plan to certain of the Diversified Fund’s shareholders as of 
February 18, 2021 in the form of a cash liquidating distribution. 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

20. The claims asserted herein arise under §§11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the Securities Act, 

15 U.S.C. §§77k, 77l(a)(2), and 77o, §§10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §§78j(b) 

and 78t(a), and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, including SEC Rule 10b-5, 17 

C.F.R. §240.10b-5. 

21. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to §22 of 

the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §77v, §27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §78aa, and under 28 U.S.C. 

§1331, because this is a civil action arising under the laws of the United States. 

22. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to §22(a) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 77v(a), §27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §78aa, and 28 U.S.C. §1391(b), because several 

defendants conduct business in this District.  A related securities class action, Yang, is also pending 

in this District. 

23. In connection with the acts, conduct, and other wrongs alleged in this Complaint, 

defendants, directly or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, 

including, but not limited to, the United States mail, interstate telephone communications, and the 

facilities of a national securities exchange. 

PARTIES 

24. Plaintiff Schiavi + Company LLC DBA Schiavi + Dattani, as set forth in the 

accompanying certification, incorporated by reference herein, purchased Diversified Fund 

securities during the Class Period and was economically damaged thereby. 

25. Plaintiff Dominus Multimanager Fund, Ltd., as set forth in the accompanying 

certification, incorporated by reference herein, purchased Volatility Fund securities during the 

Class Period and was economically damaged thereby. 
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26. Defendant Trust for Advised Portfolios (the “Trust”), the Diversified Fund’s 

registrant, is a Delaware statutory trust registered with the SEC under the Investment Company 

Act of 1940 (the “ICA”) as an open-end management investment company.  The Trust is the issuer 

of the Diversified Fund and the technical filer of the Prospectuses.  The Trust actively controlled 

the day-to-day operations of the Diversified Fund.  The Trust is run by a Board of Trustees (the 

“Board”).  The members of the Board were the officers of the Trust, many of whom signed the 

Prospectuses and all of whom exercised control over the Diversified Fund and the Diversified 

Fund’s marketing efforts.   

27. Defendant Infinity Q Capital Management LLC is the investment adviser to the 

Funds and general partner to the Volatility Fund.  Infinity Q is registered as an investment adviser 

under the ICA.  Infinity Q was retained by the Funds under an investment advisory agreement to 

act as the Funds’ Adviser, with the authority to make all investment decisions for the Funds, in 

exchange for a monthly management fee.  Infinity Q was also responsible for the day-to-day 

management of the Funds in accordance with the Funds’ investment objective and policies.  In 

addition to providing advisory services to the Funds, Infinity Q also provided advisory services to 

clients of Wildcat Capital Management, and, at all relevant times, officers of Infinity Q were also 

officers of Wildcat Capital Management.  Infinity Q is a Delaware limited liability company with 

its principal place of business at 888 7th Avenue, Suite 3700, New York, NY  10106. 

28. Infinity Q Volatility Alpha Fund, L.P. is a Delaware limited partnership that served 

as the issuer of the Volatility Fund.   

29. Infinity Q Volatility Alpha Offshore Fund, Ltd. is a Cayman Islands Exempted 

Company that operated as a “feeder” fund into the Volatility Fund by effectively investing all of 

its assets into the limited partnership Volatility Fund.   
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30. Defendant Christopher E. Kashmerick (“Kashmerick”) was the Chairman of the 

Board, as well as the Trust’s President and Principal Executive Officer during the Class Period.  

Kashmerick signed the Prospectuses.   

31. Defendant John C. Chrystal (“Chrystal”) was a trustee of the Board during the Class 

Period.  Chrystal signed the Prospectuses.   

32. Defendant Albert J. DiUlio, S.J. (“DiUlio”) was a trustee of the Board during the 

Class Period.  DiUlio signed the Prospectuses.   

33. Defendant Harry E. Resis (“Resis”) was a trustee of the Board during the Class 

Period.  Resis signed the Prospectuses.   

34. Defendant Russell B. Simon (“Simon”) was Treasurer and Principal Financial 

Officer of the Trust during the Class Period.  Simon signed the Prospectuses.   

35. Defendant Steven J. Jensen (“Jensen”) was Vice President, Chief Compliance, and 

AML Officer of the Trust during the Class Period.   

36. Defendant James Velissaris was a Director of the Adviser during the Class Period, 

and until February 20, 2021, was its CIO.  Additionally, Velissaris was a member of the Board of 

Directors for the Volatility Feeder Fund and was responsible for the overall management and 

control of the Volatility Fund.  Velissaris was also the former Portfolio Manager for Wildcat 

Capital Management.   

37. Defendant Leonard Potter (“Potter”) was the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

of the Adviser during the Class Period.  Additionally, Potter was a member of the Board of 

Directors for the Volatility Feeder Fund and was responsible for the overall management and 

control of the Volatility Fund.  Potter was also the CIO of Wildcat Capital Management.   
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38. Defendant Scott Lindell (“Lindell”) was the Chief Risk Officer and Chief Operating 

Officer of the Adviser during the Class Period.  Additionally, Lindell was a member of the Board 

of Directors for the Volatility Feeder Fund and was responsible for the overall management and 

control of the Volatility Fund.  Lindell was also the former Head of Risk for Wildcat Capital 

Management.   

39. Defendants Kashmerick, Chrystal, DiUlio, Resis, Simon, Jensen, Velissaris, Potter, 

and Lindell are collectively referred to herein as the “Individual Defendants.”  As trustees, 

directors, and/or executive officers of the Trust and/or Adviser, the Individual Defendants 

participated in the solicitation and sale of fund shares to investors in the Funds for their own benefit 

and the benefit of Infinity Q. 

40. Defendant Quasar Distributors, LLC (“Quasar” or the “Underwriter”) was the 

principal underwriter and distributor for the Diversified Fund during the Class Period.  Quasar is 

a registered broker-dealer and a member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority.  Quasar 

executed an agreement with the Trust for the sale of fund shares to the public, and received fees, 

commissions, and/or profits from these sales.  Quasar’s failure to conduct an adequate due 

diligence investigation was a substantial factor leading to the harm complained of herein.   

41. Defendant U.S. Bancorp Fund Services, LLC (“U.S. Bancorp” or “Administrator”) 

was the administrator for the Volatility Fund, the transfer agent for the Diversified Fund, and the 

parent company of Quasar during the Class Period.  U.S. Bancorp provides single-source solutions 

to support a variety of investment strategies and products including mutual funds, alternative 

investments, and exchange traded funds.  U.S. Bancorp received fees, commissions, and/or profits 

from the Funds as part of its role as the Administrator for the Funds.  As Administrator, U.S. 

Bancorp was responsible for the computation of performance data for the Funds, including NAV 
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per share and yield.  Indeed, U.S. Bancorp consented to be named as the party “responsible for the 

calculation of the net asset value” of the Volatility Fund and as the transfer agent for the Diversified 

Fund in offering documents. U.S. Bancorp’s failure to conduct an adequate due diligence 

investigation into the NAV of each of the Funds was a substantial factor leading to the harm 

complained of herein.   

42. Defendant EisnerAmper LLP (“EisnerAmper” or the “Auditor”) was the Funds’ 

auditor during the Class Period.  EisnerAmper audited the Funds’ consolidated statement of assets 

and liabilities, which was filed annually with the SEC for the Diversified Fund.  In each Annual 

Report for the Funds, EisnerAmper represented to investors that the financial statements were 

“present[ed] fairly, in all material respects,” and “in conformity with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America.”   

43. Defendant Bonderman Family Limited Partnership LP is a limited liability 

partnership established for the benefit of David Bonderman’s family wealth and investments.  

Bonderman was a control person of the Adviser during the Class Period.   

44. Defendant Infinity Q Management Equity, LLC (“IQME”) was a control person of 

the Adviser during the Class Period.   

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

The Diversified Fund 

45. The Diversified Fund is registered as an investment company under the ICA.  The 

Diversified Fund commenced operations on September 30, 2014 and began offering two share 

classes, Class A and Class I, which were required to be registered under the Securities Act. 

46. As set forth in the filings and marketing materials, the Diversified Fund’s stated 

investment objective was to generate positive absolute returns.  In its offering and marketing 
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materials and filings, the Diversified Fund further stated that it is generally intended to provide 

exposure to strategies often referred to as “alternative” or “absolute return” strategies, and that it 

implements these strategies by, among other things, investing globally either directly in, or 

through, swap contracts on a broad range of instruments, including, but not limited to, equities, 

bonds (including, but not limited to, high-yield or “junk” bonds), currencies, commodities, Master 

Limited Partnerships, credit derivatives, convertible securities, futures, forwards, and options. 

47. Defendants issued and distributed to investors the following Class Period SEC 

filings, offering materials, and marketing materials, among other documents and materials, in 

connection with the continuous offering of the Diversified Fund’s shares: 

(a) Diversified Fund Registration Statements filed with the SEC with effective 

dates December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2019 (collectively, the “Registration Statements”); 

(b) Diversified Fund Prospectuses appended to the Registration Statements 

(together with the Registration Statements, the “Prospectuses”); 

(c) Diversified Fund Summary Prospectuses dated December 31, 2018 and 

December 31, 2019 (collectively, the “Summary Prospectuses”); 

(d) Diversified Fund Statements of Additional Information (“SAIs”) and SAI 

Supplements; 

(e) Certified Shareholder Reports of Registered Management Investment 

Companies (Form N-CSR), filed with the SEC at the end of each fiscal year (August 31) by Infinity 

Q (the “Diversified Fund Annual Reports”); 

(f) periodic “Investor Insights” providing market commentary; 

(g) periodic “Volatility Updates”; and 

(h) periodic “Risk Reports.” 
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The Volatility Fund 

48. Starting in February 2017, Infinity Q began to offer access to the Volatility Alpha 

investment strategy to external investors in a Limited Partnership format.  The Volatility Fund was 

not registered under the Securities Act, nor was it registered as an investment company under the 

ICA. 

49. The investment objective of the Volatility Fund was to gain exposure to volatility-

based strategies that provide long and short exposure to a diversified portfolio of derivatives across 

equities, currencies, bonds, interest rates, and commodities markets.  Derivatives are instruments 

that derive their value from the performance of an underlying security or index.  These instruments 

include options, variance swaps, correlation swaps, dispersion swaps, credit default swaps, 

swaptions, and swap contracts.  Through exposure to these strategies, the Volatility Fund 

attempted to generate positive absolute returns over time in both positive and negative 

environments for equities, fixed income, and credit markets. 

50. As set forth in the Class Period offering and marketing materials, the Volatility 

Fund was designed to enhance returns while offering three key differentiating characteristics: 

(a) uncorrelated performance during stressful market environments; 

(b) exposure to unique and non-traditional sources of alpha;7 and 

(c) asymmetric return/risk profile. 

                                                 
7 Alpha refers to excess returns earned on an investment above the benchmark return.  Because 
alpha represents the performance of a portfolio relative to a benchmark, it is often considered to 
represent the value that a portfolio manager adds to or subtracts from a fund’s return. 
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51. The Volatility Fund was promoted as providing “fundamental and quantitative 

disciplines in a global, multi-strategy approach that is dynamically adjusted to capture alpha while 

mitigating risks.” 

52. Defendants issued and distributed to investors the following Class Period offering 

and marketing materials, among other documents and materials, in connection with the continuous 

offering of the Volatility Fund’s shares: 

(a) Confidential Private Offering Memorandum(s); 

(b) Confidential Subscription Booklet(s); 

(c) an unaudited balance sheet, income statement, and general status report of 

the Volatility Fund’s investments and activities during the applicable period after the end of each 

of the first three quarters of each fiscal year; and 

(d) an audited balance sheet, statement of operations, statement of cash flows, 

statement of partners’/shareholders’ capital, statement of each partner’s/shareholder’s schedule of 

partner’s/shareholder’s capital (net assets), and audited financial statements of the Volatility Fund 

prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) after the end 

of each fiscal year (the “Volatility Fund Annual Reports”). 

53. Investors read, analyzed, and relied upon the information set forth in these filings 

and offering and marketing materials in making decisions as to whether and how much to invest 

in the Funds, as well as whether to retain or sell shares in the Funds. 

54. Mutual funds and hedge funds like the Funds at issue must value their assets every 

day to compute the fund’s NAV.  NAV represents a fund’s per share market value.  It is derived 

by totaling all the cash and securities in a fund’s portfolio, less any liabilities.  Similarly, NAV per 
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share is calculated by dividing the NAV by the number of shares outstanding.  NAV computation 

is undertaken at the end of each trading day and is a critical duty and function of a mutual fund. 

55. During the Class Period, Infinity Q claimed to use models provided by third-party 

pricing services to determine the value of certain of the Funds’ swap contracts for purposes of 

calculating its NAV. 

56. In reliance on the representations set forth in SEC filings and marketing and 

offering materials for the Funds, including representations as to the Funds’ NAV, valuations of 

their assets, manner of future valuation of assets and the calculation of the Funds’ NAV, and risk 

and volatility reports, investors purchased billions of dollars’ worth of securities issued by the 

Funds. 

57. On or about February 22, 2021, in a filing with the SEC, the Funds, the Trust, and 

Infinity Q admitted that Infinity Q’s CIO, defendant Velissaris, had been improperly “adjusting 

certain parameters” within third-party pricing models that affected the valuation of swap contracts 

owned by the Funds. 

58. As a result of this disclosure, and subsequent disclosures detailed below, it became 

clear that the valuations of the Funds’ assets as represented to investors had been materially false 

and misleading for some time.  Defendants repeatedly made materially false and misleading 

statements in SEC filings, offering materials, marketing materials, and in communications with 

investors regarding: (1) the Funds’ present and past NAV; (2) the Funds’ valuation procedures; 

(3) the risks to investors of investing in securities issued by the Funds; and (4) the Funds’ risk 

oversight, as detailed below. 

59. Ultimately, the Funds were forced into liquidation.  By November 8, 2021, the 

Diversified Fund completed the liquidation of its assets.  Although the last reported NAV of the 
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Diversified Fund was approximately $1.7 billion, the Diversified Fund only held $1.2 billion 

following liquidation, confirming that the NAV had been overstated by over $500 million.  

Similarly, by October 31, 2021, the Volatility Fund completed the liquidation of its assets, other 

than a small investment in a product run by the wife of defendant Velissaris that she has reportedly 

refused to liquidate.  Although the last reported NAV of the Volatility Fund was $1.22 billion, the 

Volatility Fund only held $653 million following liquidation, confirming that the NAV had been 

overstated by $567 million. 

60. Adding insult to injury, Infinity Q has effectively held investors’ money hostage 

since admitting to the mismarking issues, withholding approximately $750 million from 

Diversified Fund investors and refusing to give back any money to Volatility Fund investors unless 

they release defendants from liability.  In the meantime, defendants continue to spend on defense 

costs and in responding to governmental investigations.  This course of conduct further risks 

depleting the Funds and has compounded investor damages. 

MATERIALLY FALSE AND MISLEADING STATEMENTS  
AND OMISSIONS DURING THE CLASS PERIOD 

The Diversified Fund 

61. At all relevant times, defendants misstated the Diversified Fund’s historical NAVs 

because the value of a material portion of the Diversified Fund’s assets were admittedly 

manipulated and overstated.  These false figures were then incorporated and repeated in the 

Registration Statements, Prospectuses, Diversified Fund Annual Reports, and other filings and 

marketing materials.  The Prospectuses were signed by defendants Kashmerick, Chrystal, DiUlio 

Resis, and Simon. 

62. The Registration Statements were negligently prepared and, as a result, contained 

untrue statements of material fact, omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements 
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made not misleading, and were not prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations 

governing their preparation. 

63. Each of the Prospectuses also falsely described how the Diversified Fund calculated 

its NAV.  Specifically, the Prospectuses stated in pertinent part as follows: 

NAV is calculated by adding the value of all securities and other assets 
attributable to the Fund (including interest and dividends accrued, but not yet 
received), then subtracting liabilities attributable to the Fund (including accrued 
expenses). 

Generally, the Fund’s investments are valued at market value or, in the 
absence of a market value, at fair value as determined in good faith by the Fund’s 
Adviser with oversight by the Trust’s Valuation Committee pursuant to procedures 
approved by or under the direction of the Board.  Pursuant to those procedures, the 
Adviser considers, among other things: (1) the last sales price on the securities 
exchange, if any, on which a security is primarily traded; (2) the mean between the 
bid and asked prices; (3) price quotations from an approved pricing service; and 
(4) other factors as necessary to determine a fair value under certain circumstances. 

64. These statements in ¶63 were untrue statements of material fact and omitted to state 

other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading because the daily NAV did not 

accurately reflect the true value of assets held by the Diversified Fund and defendants did not 

attempt in good faith to determine the fair value of swap contracts, but instead incorporated 

falsified data and manipulated pricing methodologies. 

65. The Prospectuses further misrepresented the pricing procedures for Diversified 

Fund shares.  For instance, the Prospectuses stated in pertinent part as follows: 

Shares of the Fund are sold at NAV per share which is calculated as of the 
close of regular trading (generally, 4:00 p.m., Eastern Time) on each day that the 
New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) is open for unrestricted business.  However, 
the Fund’s NAV may be calculated earlier if trading on the NYSE is restricted or 
as permitted by the SEC.  The NYSE is closed on weekends and most national 
holidays, including New Year’s Day, Martin Luther King, Jr. Day, Washington’s 
Birthday/Presidents’ Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor 
Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day.  The NAV will not be calculated on 
days when the NYSE is closed for trading. 
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Purchase and redemption requests are priced based on the next NAV per 
share calculated after receipt of such requests.  The NAV is the value of the Fund’s 
securities, cash and other assets, minus all expenses and liabilities (assets – 
liabilities = NAV).  NAV per share is determined by dividing NAV by the number 
of shares outstanding (NAV/ # of shares = NAV per share).  The NAV takes into 
account the expenses and fees of the Fund, including management and 
administration fees, which are accrued daily. 

In calculating the NAV, portfolio securities are valued using current market 
values or official closing prices, if available.  Each security owned by the Fund that 
is listed on a securities exchange is valued at its last sale price on that exchange on 
the date as of which assets are valued.  Where the security is listed on more than 
one exchange, the Fund will use the price of the exchange that the Fund generally 
considers to be the principal exchange on which the security is traded. 

When reliable market quotations are not readily available or the Fund’s 
pricing service does not provide a valuation (or provides a valuation that in the 
judgment of the Adviser does not represent the security’s fair value) or when, in 
the judgment of the Adviser, events have rendered the market value unreliable, a 
security or other asset is valued at its fair value as determined under procedures 
approved by the Board.  Valuing securities at fair value is intended to ensure that 
the Fund is accurately priced and involves reliance on judgment.  Fair value 
determinations are made in good faith in accordance with the procedures adopted 
by the Board.  The Board will regularly evaluate whether the Fund’s fair valuation 
pricing procedures continue to be appropriate in light of the specific circumstances 
of the Fund and the quality of prices obtained through their application by the 
Trust’s valuation committee. . . . 

Fair value pricing may be applied to non-U.S. securities.  The trading hours 
for most non-U.S. securities end prior to the close of the NYSE, the time that the 
Fund’s NAV is calculated.  The occurrence of certain events after the close of non-
U.S. markets, but prior to the close of the NYSE (such as a significant surge or 
decline in the U.S. market) often will result in an adjustment to the trading prices 
of non-U.S. securities when non-U.S. markets open on the following business day.  
If such events occur, the Fund may value non-U.S. securities at fair value, taking 
into account such events, when it calculates its NAV. . . . 

Other types of securities that the Fund may hold for which fair value pricing 
might be required include, but are not limited to: (a) investments which are not 
frequently traded and/or the market price of which the Adviser believes may be 
stale; (b) illiquid securities, including “restricted” securities and private placements 
for which there is no public market; (c) securities of an issuer that has entered into 
a restructuring; (d) securities whose trading has been halted or suspended; and 
(e) fixed income securities that have gone into default and for which there is not a 
current market value quotation. 

Case 1:22-cv-00896-RPK-SJB   Document 1   Filed 02/17/22   Page 21 of 84 PageID #: 21



 

- 21 - 
4853-5222-2985.v1 

66. The description of the pricing procedures for Diversified Fund shares in ¶65 was 

an untrue statement of material fact and omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statement 

made not misleading because the purportedly fair value pricing procedures were not designed to 

ensure the Diversified Fund was accurately priced, nor did it accurately reflect how the NAV was 

being calculated.  In fact, during the Class Period, Infinity Q’s CIO, defendant Velissaris, had 

systematically mismarked the Diversified Fund’s assets in order to artificially inflate the 

Diversified Fund’s NAV. 

67. The Prospectuses each also misrepresented the role of the Valuation Committee 

and how securities held by the Trust were valued.  For instance, the December 31, 2018 Prospectus 

stated in pertinent part as follows: 

The Board has delegated day-to-day valuation matters to a Valuation 
Committee that is comprised of the Trust’s President, Treasurer and Assistant 
Treasurer and is overseen by the Trustees.  The function of the Valuation 
Committee is to review  each Adviser’s valuation of securities held by any series 
of the Trust for which current and reliable market quotations are not readily 
available.  Such securities are valued at their respective fair values as determined 
in good faith by each Adviser, and the Valuation Committee gathers and reviews 
Fair Valuation Forms that are completed by an Adviser to support its 
determinations, and which are subsequently reviewed and ratified by the Board.  
The Valuation Committee meets as needed.  The Valuation Committee met twelve 
times during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2018, with respect to the Fund. 

68. The statements in ¶67 regarding the role of the Valuation Committee and how the 

securities held by the Trust were valued were untrue statements of material fact and omitted to 

state other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading because the Valuation 

Committee was not taking the necessary steps to “review each Adviser’s valuation of securities” 

and was not ensuring that the Diversified Fund’s assets were properly valued.  In fact, the 

Valuation Committee was either complicit in the systematic mismarking of the Diversified Fund’s 
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NAV or had completely abdicated its responsibilities, allowing the NAV of the Diversified Fund 

to be overstated by hundreds of millions of dollars. 

69. Similarly, the December 31, 2018 Prospectus stated the following concerning 

valuation risk: 

Valuation Risk.  The sales price the Fund could receive for any particular portfolio 
investment may differ from the Fund’s valuation of the investment, particularly for 
securities or other investments that trade in thin or volatile markets or that are 
valued using a fair value methodology.  Investors who purchase or redeem Fund 
shares on days when the Fund is holding fair-valued securities may receive fewer 
or more shares or lower or higher redemption proceeds than they would have 
received if the Fund had not fair-valued securities or had used a different valuation 
methodology.  Valuation may be more difficult in times of market turmoil since 
many investors and market makers may be reluctant to purchase complex 
instruments or quote prices for them.  The Fund’s ability to value its investments 
may be impacted by technological issues and/or errors by pricing services or other 
third party service providers. 

70. The statements above in ¶69 were untrue statements of material fact and omitted to 

state other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading because they failed to 

disclose any risk that the valuations could be based, in part, on third-party valuation models which 

were intentionally manipulated by Infinity Q.  Specifically, the statements omitted that Infinity 

Q’s CIO, defendant Velissaris, was intentionally manipulating the third-party pricing models used 

in valuing swaps and other Diversified Fund positions, resulting in a gross overstatement of the 

Diversified Fund’s historical NAV. 

71. The Prospectuses also misrepresented purported oversight of the Diversified Fund 

and Infinity Q’s purported attempts to minimize risk, stating in relevant part as follows: 

The Board has general oversight responsibility with respect to the operation 
of the Trust and the Fund.  The Board has engaged the Adviser to manage the Fund 
and is responsible for overseeing the Adviser and other service providers to the 
Trust and the Fund in accordance with the provisions of the 1940 Act and other 
applicable laws.  The Board has established an Audit Committee to assist the Board 
in performing it oversight responsibilities. 
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* * * 

Through its direct oversight role, and indirectly through the Audit 
Committee, and officers of the Fund and service providers, the Board performs a 
risk oversight function for the Fund.  To effectively perform its risk oversight 
function, the Board, among other things, performs the following activities: receives 
and reviews reports related to the performance and operations of the Fund; reviews 
and approves, as applicable, the compliance policies and procedures of the Fund; 
approves the Fund’s principal investment policies; adopts policies and procedures 
designed to deter market timing; meets with representatives of various service 
providers, including the Adviser, to review and discuss the activities of the Fund 
and to provide direction with respect thereto; and appoints a chief compliance 
officer of the Fund who oversees the implementation and testing of the Fund’s 
compliance program and reports to the Board regarding compliance matters for the 
Fund and its service providers. 

The Trust has an Audit Committee, which plays a significant role in the risk 
oversight of the Fund as it meets periodically with the auditors of the Fund.  The 
Board also meets quarterly with the Fund’s chief compliance officer. 

Not all risks that may affect the Fund can be identified nor can controls be 
developed to eliminate or mitigate their occurrence or effects.  It may not be 
practical or cost effective to eliminate or mitigate certain risks, the processes and 
controls employed to address certain risks may be limited in their effectiveness, and 
some risks are simply beyond the reasonable control of . . .the Adviser or other 
service providers.  Moreover, it is necessary to bear certain risks (such as 
investment-related risks) to achieve the Fund’s goals.  As a result of  the foregoing 
and other factors, the Fund’s ability to manage risk is subject to substantial 
limitations. 

72. The statements in ¶71 were untrue statements of material fact and omitted to state 

other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading because the Board, the Adviser, 

and the Audit Committee were not, in fact, properly overseeing the operations of the Diversified 

Fund to minimize risk and instead were employing valuation methods which drastically increased 

risk to investors. 

73. The December 31, 2018 Prospectus stated that the Diversified Fund’s NAV was 

$10.37 per investor class share as of August 31, 2017, with a total return of 7.56% for the year 

ended August 31, 2017, and $10.42 per institutional class share as of August 31, 2017, with a total 

return of 7.88% for the year ended August 31, 2017. 
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74. The December 31, 2019 Prospectus stated that the Diversified Fund’s NAV was 

$11.54 per investor class share as of August 31, 2018, with a total return of 11.28% for the year 

ended August 31, 2018, and $11.62 per institutional class share as of August 31, 2018, with a total 

return of 11.52% for the year ended August 31, 2018. 

75. Given the admittedly manipulated and overstated valuations of the Diversified 

Fund assets, statements as to the Diversified Fund’s assets, net assets, and NAV set forth in the 

Diversified Fund Annual Reports during the Class Period (each of which was audited by 

EisnerAmper and calculated, in substantial part, by U.S. Bancorp) contained untrue statements of 

material fact and omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading. 

76. The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (the “Notes”) set forth in the 

Diversified Fund Annual Reports during the Class Period also contained untrue statements of 

material fact and omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading.  

For example, the Notes incorrectly represented that the statements had been prepared “in 

conformity with [GAAP] for investment companies.”  This representation was untrue because the 

financial statements for the Diversified Fund had not been prepared in accordance with GAAP but 

in fact were the product of pricing manipulation by Infinity Q designed to artificially inflate the 

Diversified Fund’s NAV. 

77. With respect to “Securities Valuation,” the Notes for the year ended August 31, 

2020 stated in pertinent part as follows: 

The Fund follows a fair value hierarchy that distinguishes between market 
data obtained from independent sources (observable inputs) and the Fund’s own 
market assumptions (unobservable inputs).  The inputs or methodology used in 
determining the value of the Fund’s investments are not necessarily an indication 
of the risk associated with investing in those securities. 

Various inputs are used in determining the value of the Fund’s investments.  
These inputs are summarized into three broad categories as defined below: 
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Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical securities.  An active 
market for a security is a market in which transactions occur with sufficient 
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.  
A quoted price in an active market provides the most reliable evidence of 
fair value. 

Level 2 – Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that 
are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly.  These 
inputs may include quoted prices for the identical instrument on an inactive 
market, prices for similar instruments, interest rates, prepayment speeds, 
credit risk, yield curves, default rates, and similar data. 

Level 3 – Significant unobservable inputs, including the Fund’s own 
assumptions in determining fair value of investments. 

* * * 

Other financial derivative instruments, such as foreign currency contracts, 
options contracts, futures, or swap agreements, derive their value from underlying 
asset prices, indices, reference rates, and other inputs or a combination of these 
factors.  Depending on the product and the terms of the transaction, the value of 
the derivative contracts can be estimated by the Adviser or a pricing service using 
model pricing tailored to the type of security held.  The pricing models use various 
inputs that are observed from actively quoted markets such as issuer details, 
indices, spreads, interest rates, curves, implied volatility and exchange rates. 

* * * 

The Fund makes dispersion investments using volatility and variance swaps 
and options on dispersion.  The Adviser deems these positions to be illiquid and 
classifies these positions as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.  The Adviser uses 
model pricing to calculate the fair volatility level for each leg of the dispersion 
trade.  The Adviser uses quotes from a pricing service and brokers to estimate 
implied volatility levels as an input to these models.  A significant change in 
implied volatility could have a significant impact on the value of a position, and 
depending on the direction of the change, could either increase or decrease a 
position's value. 

The Fund makes cross-asset correlation investments using correlation and 
covariance swaps.  The Adviser deems these positions to be illiquid and classifies 
these positions as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.  The Adviser uses a third 
party calculation agent to value these positions.  The local volatility model is used 
to calculate the fair correlation level for correlation swaps.  Quotes from a pricing 
service are used to estimate the implied correlation levels as an input to these 
models.  A significant change in implied volatility could have a significant impact 
on the value of a position, and depending on the direction of the change, could 
either increase or decrease a position's value. 
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The inputs or methodology used for valuing securities are not necessarily 
an indication of the risk associated with investing in those securities. 

78. The Notes for the year ended August 31, 2019 contain substantially similar 

statements. 

79. The representations in ¶¶73-78 were untrue statements of material fact and omitted 

to state other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading.  Specifically, the 

Prospectuses and Diversified Fund Annual Reports failed to disclose that Infinity Q: 

(a) manipulated the pricing methodology for the Diversified Fund’s assets; (b) failed to employ 

the valuation methodologies and internal controls policies and procedures represented to investors; 

and (c) materially overstated the Diversified Fund’s NAV. 

Item 303 and Item 105 Violations 

80. In addition, Item 303 of SEC Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. §229.303(b)(2)(ii) (“Item 

303”) requires defendants to “[d]escribe any known trends or uncertainties that have had or that 

are reasonably likely to have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on the sales or revenues 

or income from continuing operations.”  Despite this, the Diversified Fund’s Registration 

Statements and Prospectuses failed to warn investors that Infinity Q had manipulated the pricing 

methodologies used to value the assets of the Diversified Fund and that, as a result, the NAV of 

the Diversified Fund had been materially overstated during the Class Period.  The failure to 

disclose these adverse facts violated Item 303 because these adverse facts would (and did) have an 

unfavorable impact on the Diversified Fund’s net investment income from operations. 

81. Similarly, Item 105 of SEC Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. §229.105(a) (“Item 105”), 

requires, in the “Risk Factors” section of the Registration Statements, “a discussion of the material 

factors that make an investment in the registrant or offering speculative or risky” and requires each 

risk factor to “adequately describe[] the risk.”  The failure to warn of the risks posed by Infinity 
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Q’s manipulation of the Diversified Fund’s pricing methodologies and material overstatement of 

the Diversified Fund’s NAV violated Item 105 because these specific risks were not disclosed, 

even though they were some of the most significant facts that made an investment in Diversified 

Fund shares speculative or risky. 

82. Although the offering materials for the Diversified Fund included generic warnings 

regarding the possibility of future losses from trading, volatility, and derivatives that are applicable 

to investing in general, these representations were themselves materially misleading because they 

failed to disclose the specific risks and the magnitude of the risks that resulted from the 

manipulation of the Diversified Fund’s pricing methodologies and the material overstatement of 

the Diversified Fund’s NAV.  Moreover, defendants’ purported discussions of “risk” were 

misleadingly presented as future potential contingencies while failing to disclose adverse facts that 

had already occurred.  For example, the Prospectuses stated that risks associated with the 

Diversified Fund’s “Models and Data” and “valuation” could happen, but failed to disclose that 

the Diversified Fund’s NAV had already been artificially inflated through manipulation of 

applicable pricing methodologies.  Furthermore, the boilerplate warnings were insufficient to 

negate the misleading impression created by the misrepresentations in the Diversified Fund’s 

Registration Statements and Prospectuses, as detailed herein, that the Diversified Fund had 

effective valuation procedures and policies that would preserve capital and achieve growth 

regardless of market conditions and, particularly, in down markets.  The offering materials for the 

Diversified Fund entirely omitted the specific risk that an investment manager could (and did) 

manipulate third-party valuation models that would lead to catastrophic losses in the Diversified 

Fund’s assets.  Moreover, defendants’ purported “risk” discussions were themselves materially 

misleading because those discussions presented future potential adverse contingencies, while 
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failing to disclose that Infinity Q’s CIO had altered the pricing methodologies used to value the 

Diversified Fund’s assets and that the Diversified Fund had already failed to perform the price 

verifications and other due diligence as represented to investors. 

The Volatility Fund 

83. Given the admittedly manipulated and overstated valuations of fund assets, periodic 

statements as to the Volatility Fund’s balance sheet, statement of operations, statement of cash 

flows, statement of shareholders’ capital, statement of each shareholder’s schedule of 

shareholder’s capital (net assets), and audited financial statements of the Volatility Fund prepared 

after the end of each fiscal year (each of which was audited by the Auditor) were materially false 

and misleading when made. 

84. The 2019 Volatility Fund Annual Report stated that the Volatility Fund’s net assets 

were $210,594,845 as of December 31, 2018, and $73,742,277 for the offshore fund as of 

December 31, 2018. 

85. The 2020 Volatility Fund Annual Report stated that the Volatility Fund’s net assets 

were $789,950,593 as of December 31, 2019 and $275,687,542 for the offshore fund as of 

December 31, 2019. 

86. The annual audited reports were signed by defendant Lindell, the Chief Risk Officer 

and Chief Operating Officer, and were certified by defendant EisnerAmper stating that the 

financial statements “present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position” of the Volatility 

Fund and are “in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 

America.”8  This representation was an untrue statement of material fact and omitted to state other 

                                                 
8 Defendant EisnerAmper also represented that “[w]e believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.” 
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facts necessary to make the statement made not misleading, because the financial statements for 

the Volatility Fund had not been prepared in accordance with GAAP but in fact were the product 

of pricing manipulation by Infinity Q designed to artificially inflate the Volatility Fund’s NAV.  

These false and misleading financials were also incorporated and repeated in the unaudited income 

statement and general status report of the Volatility Fund’s investments and activities after the end 

of each of the first three quarters of each respective fiscal year.  The last reported NAV of the 

Volatility Fund was $1.22 billion as of February 28, 2021, confirming that the NAV had been 

overstated by $567 million (since the Volatility Fund only held $653 million following 

liquidation). 

87. The Volatility Fund’s Class Period offering memoranda (the “Offering 

Memoranda”) also made false and misleading representations concerning the Volatility Fund’s 

“valuation” policies and procedures, stating in pertinent part as follows: 

Infinity Q, as a fiduciary of the Master Fund and the Investment Manager 
of the Fund, has an obligation to value the investments held by each client account 
in a manner that is fair, consistent and in the best interest of each client.  Infinity Q 
calculates fees charged to clients and performance that it may use in presentations 
to clients and prospects based on the values of assets in client accounts.  An 
incorrect valuation of assets may result in overcharges of fees to clients and/or 
overstatement of performance information, which in each case may be a violation 
of Infinity Q’s fiduciary duty and the anti-fraud provisions of the Advisers Act. 

Infinity Q has established valuation policies and procedures (the “Valuation 
Policy”) in an effort to reasonably ensure portfolio holdings (“Positions”) are 
valued in accordance with the offering documents of the investment funds managed 
by Infinity Q (the “Infinity Q Funds”) and GAAP, specifically, U.S. FASB 
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 820, Fair Value Measurement.  
GAAP requires the use of “fair value” in determining the value of the asset.  Under 
these principles, fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid 
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
valuation date.  These principles require that fair value measurements be 
determined based on the assumptions that market participants would use in 
pricing the asset or liability, including assumption about risk, and the effect of 
restrictions on the sale or use of an asset. 
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* * * 

The Fund has retained Infinity Q, pursuant to the Investment 
Management Agreement, to, among other things, determine the value of the 
Fund’s assets in accordance with the principles set out below and has also 
retained the Administrator, pursuant to the Administration Agreement (as 
defined below), to, among other things, compute the net asset value of the 
Participating Shares and to disseminate that information to the Fund and its 
Shareholders. 

Policy 

It is the general policy of Infinity Q that assets for which market quotations 
are readily available be valued at their market value.  In situations where no market 
quotations are available, Infinity Q seeks to utilize the value of similar assets where 
market quotations are available or model or matrix pricing for assets when both 
market quotations and similar publicly traded assets are not available, or as 
necessary to facilitate fair value. 

Procedures 

The primary source of pricing information typically will be independent 
sources, such as brokers or pricing services, but Infinity Q’s Valuation 
Committee (as defined below) is ultimately responsible for determining fair value 
for investments held by each client account.  The value of those positions will 
form an integral part of each net asset value calculation.  Once a price is established 
for a portfolio security, it shall be used for all Infinity Q Funds that hold the security. 

U.S. Bancorp Fund Services, LLC and its affiliates, the administrator(s) of 
the Infinity Q Funds, calculates the net asset values of the assets in client accounts 
and in the Infinity Q Funds for fee calculation and other purposes on the “Valuation 
Date”.  The Valuation Date is the last day of each month for each Infinity Q Fund. 

88. The statements above in ¶¶84-87 were untrue statements of material fact and 

omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading because the 

Volatility Fund’s daily NAV did not accurately reflect the true value of swap contracts held by the 

Volatility Fund and defendants did not attempt in good faith to determine the fair value of swap 

contracts, but instead incorporated false data. 

89. The Offering Memoranda further represent as to the pricing of shares in pertinent 

part as follows: 
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Fair Value Pricing 

If market quotations or official closing prices are not readily available or do 
not accurately reflect fair value for an asset, or if an asset’s value has been 
materially affected by events occurring after the close of the principal market on 
which the asset is traded, but before the Valuation Date, the asset may be valued by 
another method that Infinity Q believes accurately reflects fair value.  Infinity Q’s 
Valuation Committee, described further below, is responsible for fair valuation.  
ASC 820 provides guidance regarding appropriate valuation methodologies.  ASC 
820’s recommended hierarchy of valuation metrics is summarized as follows, in 
descending order of preference: 

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2: (a) quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 
(b) quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets where there 
are few transactions, prices are not current, price quotations vary substantially over 
time or among market markers, or in which little information is released publicly; 
(c) inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (e.g., 
interest rates, yield curves, volatilities, prepayment speeds, loss expectations, credit 
risks, expected default rates, and net asset values for investment companies that can 
be redeemed in the “near term”); or (d) inputs derived from or corroborated by 
observable market data by correlation or other means; 

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

Fair valuation methodologies also may incorporate, among other things: 

 Broker-dealer quotes; 

 Other third-party quotation providers; 

 Bids and Asks on exchanges where the asset is traded; 

 Investment cost; 

 Prices obtained during subsequent financing events; 

 Discounted expected future cash flows; 

 Pricing formulas (e.g., Black-Scholes model); 

 Prior trades; and/or 

 Pricing matrices. 
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As soon as market quotations become available for a security being “fair 
valued,” such market values shall be used in the calculation of an Infinity Q Fund’s 
net asset value without any action required by the Valuation Committee.  In 
addition, securities will not be valued at “fair value” whenever market quotations 
are readily available. 

90. The statements above in ¶89 were untrue statements of material fact and omitted to 

state other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading because the description of 

the pricing of shares failed to disclose that the purported fair value pricing procedures were not 

designed to ensure the Volatility Fund is accurately priced, and did not account for Infinity Q’s 

manipulation of the third-party valuation models. 

91. The Offering Memoranda also misrepresented the role of the Valuation Committee, 

stating in pertinent part as follows: 

Valuation Committee 

Infinity Q has established a valuation committee (the “Valuation 
Committee”) that is responsible for determining fair values and to ensure timely 
analysis and implementation of policies related to the pricing of individual 
securities or groups of securities that may be held by Infinity Q Funds. 

The Valuation Committee is comprised of members of senior 
management including Infinity Q’s Chief Investment Officer, Chief Executive 
Officer, Chief Risk Officer, and Chief Compliance Officer.  In addition, other 
members of the investment team, Infinity Q’s administrators, auditors, and third 
party valuation firms may be invited and participate as observers to Valuation 
Committee meetings. 

The Valuation Committee meets monthly or more often if needed to 
establish pricing.  A quorum is necessary for all meetings of the Valuation 
Committee where any action or determination by the members shall be made.  A 
quorum shall be constituted by the presence of a majority of the members in person 
or by means of conference telephone or any other means of communication by 
which all persons participating in the meeting are able to communicate with each 
other.  Any action or determination by the Valuation Committee shall require the 
approval of a majority of all members present at such meeting in quorum.  In the 
event that any resolution or action is passed at an inquorate meeting, such resolution 
or action shall be deemed to have been duly passed if it is afterwards ratified by the 
required majority of the members at a quorate meeting of members duly convened.  
In lieu of a meeting, the members may also reach decisions by way of written 
resolution or ratification, and a decision taken by way of written resolution or 
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ratification signed by a majority of the members entitled to vote on such matters 
shall have the same effect as if that decision had been duly taken by a vote at a duly 
convened meeting of the members. 

The Valuation Committee is responsible for carrying out certain 
functions relating to the valuation of portfolio securities and other assets.  These 
responsibilities include: 

(a) Oversight over valuations focused on developing and/or assessing 
the methodologies and information/pricing sources to be used for 
performing independent price verifications or price substantiations on 
each Position. 

(b) Oversight over the price substantiation process, including third-
party valuation agents and services. 

(c) Approval of Position valuations at each Valuation Date. 

(d) Where broker quotes/price indications or pricing service values 
(each, a “quote”) are relied upon to value a particular type of asset, 
reviewing quantitative and qualitative information, such as the 
appropriateness of the source (e.g., pricing source, broker or other source), 
recent trade activity and outliers and, where appropriate, quantitative 
support for valuations used. 

(e) Where models/memos provide the basis for Position valuations, 
reviewing such models/memos and any supporting documentation.  From 
time to time the Valuation Committee may elect to have third parties 
provide price assurance or to value Positions outright. 

(f) Ensuring that the valuation process periodically includes back-
testing of a sample of valuations to the extent possible and where it is 
likely to provide a reasonable base of comparison, against the recent 
purchase or sale prices of Positions. 

(g) Not less than annually, reviewing and approving this Policy. 

Infinity Q’s Chief Investment Officer is responsible for preparing or causing 
to be prepared minutes of each meeting of the Valuation Committee, which shall 
describe the actions taken at the meeting. 

92. The Offering Memoranda also made false and misleading representations 

concerning the Volatility Fund’s “Valuation Considerations,” stating in pertinent part as follows: 
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Valuation Considerations 

As a general principle, valuations should reflect the amount that an 
Infinity Q Fund could reasonably expect to receive for the security upon its 
current sale.  Therefore, ascertaining fair value requires a determination of the 
amount that an arm’s-length buyer, under the circumstances, would currently 
pay for the security, exclusive of blockage discounts.  Fair value cannot be based 
on what a buyer might pay at some later time, such as when the market ultimately 
recognizes the security’s true value as currently perceived by Infinity Q.  An 
Infinity Q Fund also may not fair value portfolio securities at prices that are not 
achievable on a current basis on the belief that it would not currently need to sell 
those securities.  Thus, for example, an Infinity Q Fund generally may not fair value 
portfolio securities at par based on the expectation that it will hold those securities 
until maturity, if it could not receive par value upon the current sale of those 
securities. 

93. The Offering Memoranda further made false and misleading representations 

concerning the Volatility Fund’s “Valuation Methodology,” stating in pertinent part as follows: 

Valuation Methodology 

In valuing assets, the following general principals apply: 

 Equity Securities: Equity securities, including preferred stock, ETFs, and 
ADRs, that are listed for trading on an active recognized exchange or market 
and are freely transferable are valued at the last reported sales price, as 
quoted by Bloomberg Valuation Services (“Bloomberg”), or other 
recognized pricing sources.  In certain instances when it is determined that 
the market is not actively trading, the monthly Volume Weighted Average 
Price, as determined by Bloomberg will be utilized and/or a marketability 
adjustment will be applied. 

 Equity Total Return Swaps: Equity swaps, including CFDs and basket 
swaps, are valued consistent with the methodology discussed above for the 
underlying equity security on which the performance of the swap is based. 

 Listed Options: Options that are listed on a securities exchange are valued 
at their last sales prices as quoted on Bloomberg or other recognized pricing 
sources; provided, that if the last sales prices of such options do not fall 
between the last “bid” and “asked” prices for such options on that date, then 
the options are valued at the mean between the last “bid” and “asked” prices 
for such options on that date. 

 OTC Equity Options: Over-the-counter options that have settled based on 
the settlement price of similar exchange-traded options are value consistent 
with the methodology discussed above for listed options.  If no similar 
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exchange-traded options are available, then the option is priced via a Black-
Scholes model on Bloomberg.  These values are compared to broker quotes 
for reasonableness.  Any material differences are compared to the valuation 
obtained by the Administrator and a determination of the appropriate fair 
value is made. 

 Debt: Debt securities, including sovereign debt, corporate debt and 
convertibles, are valued at the “mid” as provided by Thomson Reuters or 
other recognized pricing sources.  If reported mids are not available, then 
prices are received from independent broker/dealers who may also be 
market makers in the securities. 

 Futures: Futures are valued at the settle close, as quoted on Bloomberg or 
other recognized pricing sources. 

 Currency Contracts: Forward and spot non-U.S. currencies are converted 
into U.S. dollars using foreign exchange rates obtained from Bloomberg at 
approximately 4:30 p.m. EST. 

 Credit Default Swaps: Credit default swaps are valued via Bloomberg 
utilizing the ISDA Standard Upfront Model on a daily basis.  At each 
month end, valuations are compared to the values provided by 
counterparties for reasonableness. 

 OTC Derivatives: Reliable quotes for certain OTC derivatives, including 
variance swaps, volatility swaps, fx options, and swaptions, may not be 
available from data providers, either because the transactions are “one of 
a kind” or not actively traded.  Infinity Q utilizes Bloomberg, broker 
quotes, and counterparty valuations to provide a fair value for these 
securities.  At each month end, valuations are compared to the values 
provided by counterparties for reasonableness. 

 Investment Funds: Investments in other investment funds (hedge funds, 
private equity or other private funds) (“Portfolio Funds”) are valued at the 
latest month-end or quarter-end unaudited or audited net asset value.  
However, if Infinity Q reasonably believes that the valuations furnished do 
not reflect the fair value of the underlying assets, adjustments may be made 
to such values. 

In addition, an Infinity Q Fund may invest in Portfolio Funds that provide 
net asset values on a quarterly, semi-annual or annual basis, rather than on a 
monthly basis, and, therefore, Infinity Q may be required to rely on a monthly 
approximation of the net asset values of certain portfolio funds provided to it by 
such Portfolio Funds’ fund manager. 
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Recordkeeping 

Fair value documentation shall include (1) the identity of the affected 
portfolio(s); (2) a copy of any materials considered in making the fair value 
determination; (3) a brief summary of the relevant factors considered; and (4) any 
follow-up information to close out a prior fair value determination.  All valuation 
determinations, and documentation related thereto, shall be retained for a period of 
not less than six years after the close of the applicable Infinity Q Fund’s fiscal year, 
and for the first two years in an easily accessible place. 

94. The statements above in ¶¶91-93 as to the Valuation Committee, Valuation 

Considerations, and Valuation Methodology were untrue statements of material fact and omitted 

to state other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading because the Valuation 

Committee was not taking the proper “considerations” and “methodology” when calculating NAV 

and ensuring that the Volatility Fund’s assets were properly valued and was either complicit in 

Infinity Q’s mismarking of the Volatility Fund’s assets or had completely abdicated its 

responsibilities to ensure the Volatility Fund’s assets were properly valued.  The Valuation 

Committee also failed to take the necessary steps to review and oversee each Adviser’s valuation 

of securities. 

95. The representations in ¶¶91-93 above are also untrue statements of material fact 

and omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading in that they 

fail to disclose the full picture of the valuation of the swap contracts, nor do they account for the 

increased risks associated with the misstated valuations of the swap contracts.  Specifically, the 

statements in the offering materials and periodic reports made false and/or misleading statements 

and/or failed to disclose that Infinity Q: (a) manipulated the pricing methodology to value the 

Volatility Fund’s assets; (b) failed to employ the valuation methodologies and internal controls 

policies and procedures as represented to investors; and (c) materially overstated the Volatility 

Fund’s NAV. 
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96. Although the offering materials for the Volatility Fund included generic warnings 

regarding the possibility of future losses from trading, volatility, and derivatives that are applicable 

to investing in general, these representations were themselves materially misleading because they 

failed to disclose the specific risks and the magnitude of the risks that resulted from the 

manipulation of the Volatility Fund’s pricing methodologies and the material overstatement of the 

Volatility Fund’s NAV.  Moreover, defendants’ purported discussions of “risk” were untrue 

statements of material fact and omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements made 

not misleading because they were presented as future potential contingencies while failing to 

disclose adverse facts that had already occurred.  For example, offering materials stated that risks 

associated with “Misconduct of Infinity Q Personnel Third-Party Service Providers” could happen, 

but failed to disclose that the Volatility Fund’s NAV had already been artificially inflated through 

manipulation of applicable pricing methodologies.  Furthermore, the boilerplate warnings were 

insufficient to negate the misleading impression created by the misrepresentations in the Volatility 

Fund’s investor materials, as detailed herein, that the Volatility Fund had effective valuation 

procedures and policies that would preserve capital and achieve growth regardless of market 

conditions and particularly in down markets.  The offering materials for the Volatility Fund 

entirely omitted the specific risk that an investment manager could (and did) manipulate third-

party valuation models that would lead to catastrophic losses in the Volatility Fund’s assets.  

Moreover, defendants’ purported “risk” discussions were themselves materially misleading 

because those discussions presented future potential adverse contingencies, while failing to 

disclose that Infinity Q’s CIO altered the pricing methodologies used to value the Volatility Fund’s 

assets and that the Volatility Fund had already failed to perform the price verifications and other 

due diligence that it represented to investors had been done. 
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EVENTS FOLLOWING THE CLASS PERIOD 

97. On or around February 22, 2021, Infinity Q filed a request with the SEC for an 

order pursuant to §22(e)(3) of the ICA suspending the right of redemption with respect to shares 

of the Diversified Fund, effective February 19, 2021, because of Infinity Q’s inability to accurately 

determine the Diversified Fund’s NAV.  The request also stated that the Diversified Fund was 

liquidating its portfolio and distributing its assets to shareholders. 

98. As part of the “justification” for the request, the Diversified Fund admitted that 

Infinity Q’s CIO, defendant Velissaris, had been “adjusting certain parameters within the third-

party pricing model that affected the valuation” of swap contracts. 

99. Infinity Q further admitted it was unable to conclude that these adjustments were 

reasonable, and, further, it was unable to verify that the values it had previously determined for 

the swap contracts were reflective of fair value. 

100. The filing went on to state in pertinent part as follows: 

Infinity Q also informed the Fund that it would not be able to calculate a fair value 
for any of the Swaps in sufficient time to calculate an accurate NAV for at least 
several days.  Infinity Q and the Fund immediately began the effort to value these 
Swap positions accurately to enable the Fund to calculate an NAV, which effort 
includes the retention of an independent valuation expert.  However, Infinity Q and 
the Fund currently believe that establishing and verifying those alternative methods 
may take several days or weeks.  Infinity Q and the Fund are also determining 
whether the fair values calculated for positions other than the Swaps are reliable, 
and the extent of the impact on historical valuations.  As a result, the Fund was 
unable to calculate an NAV on February 19, 2021, and it is uncertain when the Fund 
will be able to calculate an NAV that would enable it to satisfy requests for 
redemptions of Fund shares. 

101. The Diversified Fund did not calculate an NAV on February 19, 2021, nor any day 

thereafter through the filing of this Complaint, and it is unknown when the Diversified Fund will 

be able to accurately calculate an NAV for assets it held during the Class Period. 
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102. On February 22, 2021, due to the Diversified Fund’s inability to accurately 

calculate its NAV, and on the Diversified Fund’s request, the SEC suspended redemptions of the 

Diversified Fund indefinitely. 

103. Similarly, on February 22, 2021, the Volatility Fund sent the following letter to 

investors: 

To:  Limited Partners of Infinity Q Volatility Alpha Fund LP (the “Partnership”) 
and the Members of Infinity Q Volatility Alpha Offshore Fund, Ltd. (the 
“Company”) 

Dear Investors, 

Late last week, Leonard Potter, the Non-Executive Chairman of Infinity Q 
Capital Management, LLC (“Infinity Q” or the “General Partner”), learned that 
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission staff had obtained evidence that 
James Velissaris, Infinity Q’s CEO and Chief Investment Officer, had accessed and 
altered models of an independent third-party pricing service used to value complex 
derivatives in the Fund’s portfolio.  Infinity Q has independently corroborated that 
Mr. Velissaris did access and alter the third party’s valuation models but has not 
yet determined the impact of those alterations on the fair value of any positions.  
Mr. Potter assumed the management responsibilities of Infinity Q and, in order to 
protect investors, shut off Mr. Velissaris’s access to all trading activities, removed 
his authority to access any accounts and placed him on administrative leave.  
Infinity Q is cooperating fully with the SEC investigation. 

In light of this course of action, the General Partner on behalf of the 
Partnership and the Board of Directors of the Company have determined to 
immediately cease trading and suspend redemptions in the Partnership and the 
Company in accordance with Clause 5.05(g) of the Partnership Agreement and 
Clause 9 of the Articles of the Company.  It is the view of the General Partner and 
the Board of Directors of the Company that suspension of redemptions is 
appropriate in the circumstances and is in the best interests of the Partnership and 
the Company respectively in order to ensure the equitable treatment of all Limited 
Partners and Shareholders as they further consider how to proceed in light of the 
situation. 

We are currently assessing the portfolio and positions of the Partnership and 
will be following up with investors further in the coming days. 

In relation to the Partnership, we note that the change of General Partner 
and amendment of the offering documents of the Partnership and the Company 
expected to occur on March 1, 2021 of which you were notified will no longer occur 
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and the General Partner will remain the General Partner and liquidator of the 
Partnership. 

104. As reported, beginning on March 1, 2021, the Board began working to liquidate all 

assets held by the Funds that were not already in cash or cash equivalents as of February 22, 2021. 

105. On March 26, 2021, the Diversified Fund reported that as of March 19, 2021, the 

Diversified Fund’s portfolio had been entirely liquidated.  The Diversified Fund reported that the 

liquidation of its portfolio resulted in the Diversified Fund holding only $1.25 billion in cash and 

cash equivalents as of March 25th, which was being held by the Diversified Fund’s custodian.  The 

Diversified Fund stated that this total did not include outstanding close-out payments from certain 

derivatives counterparties, but that such amounts were not expected to materially increase the 

Diversified Fund’s cash holdings. 

106. The Diversified Fund further stated in pertinent part as follows: 

On February 18, 2021, the last day on which the Fund calculated a net asset 
value (“NAV”), the Fund’s stated NAV was $1,727,194,948.50, compared to an 
asset value (before considering liabilities and other deductions necessary to 
calculate an NAV) as of March 25 of $1,249,485,022.  As discussed below, the 
Fund is in the process of reevaluating its historical valuations of variance swaps 
and certain other holdings, which may lead to a reduction in the NAV for February 
18 and earlier periods.  Subject to that possible revaluation, the decrease in asset 
value assigned to the portfolio on February 18 to the March 25 asset value of 
$1,249,485,022 is currently attributable primarily to the value realized on 
liquidation of the Fund’s bilateral OTC positions compared to their stated value on 
February 18.  These positions included variance swaps, and other OTC swaps and 
options positions, that represented approximately 18% and 11%, respectively, of 
the Fund’s NAV on February 18, 2021. 

107. Similarly, by October 31, 2021 the Volatility Fund completed the liquidation of its 

assets, other than a small investment in a product run by the wife of defendant Velissaris that she 

has reportedly refused to liquidate.  Although the Volatility Fund claimed an NAV of $1.22 billion 

as of February 2021, the Volatility Fund only held $653 million following liquidation, confirming 

that the NAV had been overstated by $567 million. 
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108. On February 17, 2022, defendant Velissaris was indicted by the DOJ for securities 

fraud and obstruction of justice for orchestrating a scheme to lie to the Funds’ investors and falsify 

documents.  On the same day, both the SEC and the CFTC also charged defendant Velissaris with 

fraud for overvaluing the Funds’ assets by more than $1 billion while pocketing tens of millions 

of dollars in fees.  The complaints allege in part that Velissaris accomplished his scheme by, among 

other methods: (i) surreptitiously inputting false information into the models; (ii) changing the 

models’ standard underlying computation codes; and (iii) using improper pricing templates to 

guarantee the pricing service would return whatever artificial values he wanted rather than the 

values that the independent pricing service models would produce without Velissaris’ nefarious 

actions.  Using these fraudulent valuations, the complaints allege, Velissaris successfully caused 

Infinity Q to show hundreds of millions of dollars in false, exaggerated gains, creating a false 

record of success that Infinity Q in turn used to charge inflated fees, induce existing pool 

participants to commit additional monies, and lure in new participants. 

109. Adding insult to injury, Infinity Q is currently holding investors’ money hostage, 

withholding approximately $750 million from Diversified Fund investors and refusing to give back 

any money to Volatility Fund investors unless they release defendants from liability.  In the 

meantime, there is a substantial risk that defendants are continuing to deplete the assets of the 

Funds through legal defense costs, effectively treating investor assets as an enormous legal defense 

fund.  Investors in both Funds are now therefore left waiting for an unknown amount of time to 
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learn what their investments in each of the Funds are actually worth and what they will receive at 

liquidation.9 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

110. Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action on behalf of a class consisting of all 

persons and entities who purchased the securities of the Funds during the Class Period, and were 

damaged thereby (the “Class”).  Excluded from the Class are defendants, the officers and directors 

of Infinity Q, members of the Individual Defendants’ immediate families, their legal 

representatives, heirs, successors, or assigns, and any entity in which the officers and directors of 

Infinity Q have or had a controlling interest. 

111. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  The last reported NAVs for each of the Funds exceeded a billion dollars, 

representing a large investor base.  While the exact number of Class members is unknown to 

plaintiffs at this time and can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, plaintiffs believe 

that there are hundreds of members in the proposed Class.  Record owners and other members of 

the Class may be identified from records maintained by the Funds or their transfer agents and may 

be notified of the pendency of this action by mail, using the form of notice similar to that 

customarily used in securities class actions, including being given an opportunity to exclude 

themselves from the Class. 

                                                 
9 On December 3, 2021, the Diversified Fund made an initial “Interim Distribution” in 
accordance with the terms of the Plan to certain of the Diversified Fund’s shareholders as of 
February 18, 2021 in the form of a cash liquidating distribution. 
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112. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class, as all 

members of the Class are similarly affected by defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of the 

federal laws complained of herein. 

113. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the Class 

and have retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation. 

114. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and 

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class.  Among the 

questions of law and fact common to the Class are: 

(a) whether defendants violated the Securities Act; 

(b) whether defendants violated the Exchange Act; 

(c) whether statements made by defendants to investors misrepresented 

material facts about the operations and valuation of the Funds; and 

(d) to what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and the 

proper measure of damages. 

115. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable.  Furthermore, as the 

damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and burden 

of individual litigation make it impossible for members of the Class to individually redress the 

wrongs done to them.  There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as a class action. 
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SECURITIES ACT COUNTS 

COUNT I 

Violation of §11 of the Securities Act Against the Trust, the Adviser, 
the Individual Defendants, the Underwriter, the Administrator, and the Auditor 

116. Plaintiff Schiavi and Dattani repeats and realleges each and every allegation 

contained above. 

117. This Count is brought solely on behalf of purchasers in the Diversified Fund during 

the Class Period, and expressly excludes and disclaims any allegation that could be construed as 

alleging fraud or intentional or reckless conduct, as this Count is solely based on claims of strict 

liability and/or negligence under the Securities Act.  For purposes of asserting this Count, plaintiff 

Schiavi and Dattani does not allege that defendants acted with scienter or fraudulent intent, which 

are not elements of a §11 claim. 

118. As the issuer, the Trust is strictly liable under the Securities Act.  Liability under 

this Count is also predicated on the Individual Defendants’ signing of the Registration Statements, 

their positions as directors, and/or the filings incorporated by reference therein for the offerings, 

and all Securities Act defendants’ respective participation in the offerings, which were conducted 

pursuant to the offering materials.  The Underwriter served as the underwriter with respect to the 

offer and sale of the shares issued by the Diversified Fund.  In addition, the Adviser, the 

Administrator, and the Auditor each consented to having been named as the persons who prepared 

or certified parts of the Registration Statements, which such portions are alleged herein to be 

materially false and misleading. 

119. The Registration Statements were inaccurate and misleading, contained untrue 

statements of material fact, omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements made not 

misleading, and omitted to state material facts required to be stated therein. 
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120. None of the defendants named herein made a reasonable investigation or possessed 

reasonable grounds for the belief that the statements contained in the Registration Statements were 

true and without omissions of any material facts and were not misleading. 

121. Plaintiff Schiavi and Dattani acquired shares of the Diversified Fund pursuant to 

the Registration Statements.  Plaintiff Schiavi and Dattani sustained damages as a result of the 

violation, as the value of shares of the Diversified Fund has declined substantially subsequent to 

and due to defendants’ violations. 

122. Less than one year has elapsed since the time that plaintiff Schiavi and Dattani 

discovered, or could reasonably have discovered, the facts upon which this Complaint is based.  

Less than three years has elapsed since the time that the securities at issue in this Count were bona 

fide offered to the public. 

123. As a result of the wrongful conduct alleged herein, plaintiff Schiavi and Dattani 

suffered damages in an amount to be established at trial. 

124. By reason of the foregoing, the Trust, the Adviser, the Individual Defendants, the 

Underwriter, the Administrator, and the Auditor have violated §11 of the Securities Act and are 

each jointly and severally liable to plaintiff Schiavi and Dattani and the Class for the substantial 

damages which were suffered in connection with their purchases of the Diversified Fund’s 

securities on behalf of the account holders. 

COUNT II 

Violation of §12(a)(2) of the Securities Act Against the Trust,  
the Adviser, the Individual Defendants, and the Underwriter 

125. Plaintiff Schiavi and Dattani repeats and realleges each and every allegation 

contained above. 
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126. This Count is brought solely on behalf of purchasers in the Diversified Fund during 

the Class Period, and expressly excludes and disclaims any allegation that could be construed as 

alleging fraud or intentional or reckless conduct, as this Count is solely based on claims of strict 

liability and/or negligence under the Securities Act.  For purposes of asserting this Count, plaintiff 

Schiavi and Dattani does not allege that defendants acted with scienter or fraudulent intent, which 

are not elements of a §12(a)(2) claim. 

127. The defendants named herein were sellers and offerors and/or solicitors of 

purchasers of the shares of the Diversified Fund offered pursuant to the Prospectuses and other 

offering and marketing materials and communications. 

128. The Prospectuses contained untrue statements of material fact, omitted to state 

other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading, and omitted to state material 

facts required to be stated therein.  The actions of solicitation included participating in the 

preparation of the false and misleading Prospectuses and participating in marketing the shares of 

the Diversified Fund to investors, including plaintiff Schiavi and Dattani. 

129. Each of the defendants named herein owed to the purchasers of Diversified Fund 

shares, including plaintiff Schiavi and Dattani, the duty to make a reasonable and diligent 

investigation of the statements contained in the Prospectuses and corresponding supplements and 

amendments to ensure that such statements were true and that there was no omission to state a 

material fact required to be stated in order to make the statements contained therein not misleading. 

130. Defendants, in the exercise of reasonable care, should have known of the 

misstatements and omissions contained in the Prospectuses as set forth above. 

131. Plaintiff Schiavi and Dattani purchased shares of the Diversified Fund pursuant to 

the defective Prospectuses.  Plaintiff Schiavi and Dattani did not know, nor in the exercise of 
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reasonable diligence could it have known, of the falsehoods and omissions contained in the 

Prospectuses. 

132. By reason of the conduct alleged herein, each of the defendants named herein 

violated §12(a)(2) of the Securities Act.  As a direct and proximate result of such violations, 

plaintiff Schiavi and Dattani and the Class, which acquired shares pursuant to the offering 

materials, sustained substantial damages in connection with their acquisition of shares of the 

Diversified Fund.  Accordingly, for the shares of the Diversified Fund held by plaintiff Schiavi 

and Dattani and the Class and issued pursuant to the offering materials, plaintiff Schiavi and 

Dattani and the Class have the right to rescind and recover the consideration paid for their shares, 

with interest thereon, and hereby tender their shares to Infinity Q.  For shares of the Diversified 

Fund that they sold, plaintiff Schiavi and Dattani and the Class seek damages to the extent 

permitted by law. 

COUNT III 

Violation of §15 of the Securities Act Against the Adviser,  
the Individual Defendants, Bonderman, IQME, and the Administrator 

133. Plaintiff Schiavi and Dattani repeats and realleges each and every allegation 

contained above. 

134. This Count is brought solely on behalf of purchasers in the Diversified Fund, and 

expressly excludes and disclaims any allegation that could be construed as alleging fraud or 

intentional or reckless conduct, as this Count is solely based on claims of strict liability and/or 

negligence under the Securities Act.  For purposes of asserting this Count, plaintiff Schiavi and 

Dattani does not allege that defendants acted with scienter or fraudulent intent, which are not 

elements of a §15 claim. 
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135. The Adviser managed and controlled the business affairs of the Diversified Fund 

and was a control person of the Diversified Fund. 

136. Each of the Individual Defendants was a control person of the Diversified Fund, 

Trust, and/or Adviser by virtue of their positions as a Director, Trustee, and/or senior officer of 

the Diversified Fund, Trust, or Adviser. 

137. Bonderman and IQME also were control persons of the Adviser, with each owning 

more than 25% of the Adviser. 

138. The Administrator was a control person of the Underwriter. 

139. By reason of such conduct, the defendants named in this Count are liable as control 

persons pursuant to §15 of the Securities Act. 

140. Each of the defendants named herein was also a culpable participant in the 

violations of §§11 and 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act alleged in Counts I and II above, based on 

their having signed the Registration Statements and/or having otherwise participated in the process 

which allowed the offer and sale of shares of the Diversified Fund to be successfully completed. 

By reason of such conduct, the defendants named in this Count are liable to plaintiff Schiavi and 

Dattani and other members of the Class who purchased the Diversified Fund during the Class 

Period pursuant to §15 of the Securities Act for the damages sustained by plaintiff Schiavi and 

Dattani and the Class as a result of the violations of §§11 and 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act, in an 

amount to be determined at trial. 

EXCHANGE ACT COUNTS AND ADDITIONAL ALLEGATIONS 

141. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained above. 
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ADDITIONAL ALLEGATIONS OF SCIENTER 

142. In support of the Exchange Act counts, the following facts support a compelling 

inference that the Trust, the Adviser, the Administrator, the Individual Defendants, the Auditor, 

and the Funds acted with sufficient scienter at all relevant times.  At the very least, these defendants 

knew about (or recklessly disregarded) the manipulation of NAV pricing and/or had access to 

additional facts rendering their public statements materially false or misleading. 

Motive and Opportunity 

143. Many of the defendants were compensated both in fixed retainer fees and based on 

the performance of the Diversified Fund’s NAV.  Infinity Q, as the Adviser, was compensated by 

the Diversified Fund with “an investment advisory fee computed daily and payable monthly, based 

on a rate equal to 1.70% of the Fund’s average daily net assets.”  As an example, for the fiscal year 

completed August 31, 2019, Infinity Q was paid over $8.3 million in advisory fees by the 

Diversified Fund.   

144. Similarly, as Administrator of the Volatility Fund, U.S. Bancorp, dba “Global Fund 

Services,” was also compensated based on the daily NAV calculation.  For example, for the fiscal 

year ended August 31, 2019, U.S. Bancorp was compensated $405,464. 

145. The independent trustees were also compensated at a retainer of $43,000 per year 

and a fee of $1,000 per each meeting of the Board attended, as well as for expenses in connection 

with Board meetings.   

146. Additionally, according to the SEC, Velissaris alone allegedly “collected more than 

$26 million in profit distributions through his fraudulent conduct and without disclosing his 

activities to investors.” 
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Defendants’ Positions, Awareness,  
and Direct Involvement in the Funds 

147. The Trust was the issuer of the Diversified Fund and the filer of the Prospectuses, 

and actively controlled the day-to-day operations of the Diversified Fund.  The Board was 

comprised of the officers of the Trust, many of whom signed the Prospectuses and all of whom 

exercised control over the Diversified Fund and the Diversified Fund’s marketing efforts.   

148. Similarly, the Volatility Master Fund was the issuer of the Volatility Fund, and the 

Volatility Feeder Fund operated as a “feeder” fund into the Volatility Fund. 

149. Infinity Q was the Adviser to the Funds during the Class Period.  Infinity Q retained 

the authority to make all investment decisions for the Funds, in exchange for a monthly 

management fee.   

150. Defendant Kashmerick was the Chairman of the Board, as well as the Trust’s 

President and Principal Executive Officer during the Class Period.  Defendants Chrystal, DiUlio, 

and Resis were trustees of the Board during the Class Period.  All three signed the Prospectuses. 

151. Defendants Simon and Jensen were officers of the Trust during the Class Period.  

Defendant Simon also signed the Prospectuses. 

152. Defendant Velissaris was a Director of the Adviser during the Class Period, and 

until February 20, 2021, was its CIO.  Additionally, Velissaris was a member of the Board of 

Directors for the Volatility Feeder Fund and was responsible for the overall management and 

control of the Volatility Fund.  According to the government complaints, Velissaris also took 

various steps to conceal his fraud, including: (i) providing falsified swap term sheets to Infinity 

Q’s auditors; (ii) surreptitiously making retroactive changes to Infinity Q’s written valuation 

policy; and (iii) creating phony minutes for meetings of Infinity Q’s valuation committee that never 

happened. 
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153. The SEC complaint further alleged: 

By March 2020, when faced with market volatility caused by the COVID-
19 pandemic, [defendant] Velissaris knew that the Funds were poorly positioned 
for increasing market turmoil and that they were at risk of failing.  [To buy more 
time,] Velissaris sought a $100 million cash infusion from affiliates of Infinity Q’s 
partial owner [which apparently is defendant Bonderman], but the proposed loan 
was never made.  In response and to try to stave off the . . . Funds’ failure, 
Velissaris stepped up his manipulation of the valuations of positions held by 
the . . . Funds, resulting in the overvaluation of each of the Funds’ net assets by 
hundreds of millions of dollars.  This overvaluation attracted hundreds of millions 
of dollars in additional investments and forestalled investor redemptions, all while 
some funds with similar investment strategies struggled or failed. 

154. Defendants Potter and Lindell were officers of the Adviser during the Class Period.  

Additionally, both Potter and Lindell were members of the Board of Directors for the Volatility 

Feeder Fund and were responsible for the overall management and control of the Volatility Fund.   

155. As trustees, directors, and/or executive officers of the Trust and/or Adviser, the 

Individual Defendants participated in the solicitation and sale of fund shares to investors in the 

Funds for their own benefit and the benefit of Infinity Q.  Together, their positions, activities, and 

direct involvement with the day-to-day operations with either or both Funds indicate that they 

knew (or should have known) about the manipulation of NAV pricing and/or had access to 

additional facts rendering their public statements materially false or misleading.   

156. Moreover, defendants Velissaris, Potter, Chrystal, DiUlio, Resis, Kashmerick, and 

Simon all signed the Registration Statements of the Diversified Fund.  In so doing, they held 

themselves out to the investing public as those persons most knowledgeable about the day-to-day 

operations of the Diversified Fund, including the Fair Value Pricing model. 

157. Defendant U.S. Bancorp was the Administrator for the Volatility Fund, the transfer 

agent for the Diversified Fund, and the parent company of Quasar during the Class Period.  U.S. 

Bancorp received fees, commissions, and/or profits from the Trust as part of its role as the 
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Administrator for the Volatility Fund.  As Administrator, U.S. Bancorp was responsible for the 

computation of performance data, including NAV per share and yield.   

158. Defendant EisnerAmper was the Funds’ auditor during the Class Period.  

EisnerAmper audited and certified the Diversified Fund’s consolidated statement of assets and 

liabilities, which was filed annually with the SEC in the Diversified Fund’s Annual Report – 

stating that EisnerAmper assessed “the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to error or fraud.”  Defendant EisnerAmper also audited and certified the consolidated 

financial statements of assets and liabilities concerning the Volatility Fund.  

159. Together, U.S. Bancorp and EisnerAmper represented themselves to the investing 

public as neutral arbiters of the financial health of the Funds.  In order to properly perform their 

respective roles, each was required to have access to, understand, and evaluate the financial 

positions of the Funds, including the NAV.  In addition, each were compensated for their roles 

with the Funds and benefited financially from the services rendered and the artificially high NAVs 

that the Funds fraudulently reported.  

160. Defendants Bonderman and IQME each owned more than 25% of the Adviser and 

were control persons of the Adviser during the Class Period.  

161. According to a Diversified Fund Prospectus, the Adviser exercised significant 

control over the NAV via fair value pricing.  “Fair value pricing is used when market quotations 

are not readily available, the Fund’s pricing service does not provide a valuation (or provides a 

valuation that in the judgment of the Adviser does not represent the security’s fair value), or 

when, in the judgment of the Adviser, events have rendered the market value unreliable.”  Not 

only did the Adviser, and its control persons, have significant opportunity to manipulate the 

valuation in accordance with their “judgment,” the fair value pricing model required the Adviser, 
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the Administrator, and the Individual Defendants to closely monitor the valuations being returned 

from the third-party pricing consultant.  Thus, each defendant named in this section either knew, 

or should have known, that the values being returned from the pricing service provider did not 

match those reported into the daily NAV, or that the variables being reported to the pricing service 

provider, critical to the underlying basis of the Adviser’s “judgment,” were incorrect. 

Magnitude of the Fraud 

162. After reporting NAV of approximately $1.7 billion, the Diversified Fund held only 

$1.2 billion in cash following liquidation, confirming that the Diversified Fund NAV had been 

overstated by over $500 million.  Similarly, after reporting that the NAV of the Volatility Fund 

was $1.22 billion, the Volatility Fund only held $653 million in cash following liquidation, 

confirming that the NAV had been overstated by $567 million.  Together, the two overstatements 

amount to a fraudulent overstatement of the Funds’ NAV by more than $1 billion.  Put differently, 

the value of the two Funds combined was artificially inflated by more than 100% as a result of the 

fraudulent scheme.  The enormous scope of the fraud indicates that each of the defendants named 

in this section must have been aware of (or recklessly disregarded) the NAV pricing manipulation 

scheme.   

Governmental Actions 

163. On February 17, 2022, defendant Velissaris was indicted by the DOJ for securities 

fraud and obstruction of justice for orchestrating a scheme to lie to the Funds’ investors and falsify 

documents.  On the same day, both the SEC and the CFTC also charged defendant Velissaris with 

fraud for overvaluing the Funds’ assets by more than $1 billion while pocketing tens of millions 

of dollars in fees.  The presence of multiple regulatory actions further bolsters scienter. 
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Infinity Q’s Own Admissions 

164. In their February 22, 2021 letter to the SEC, Infinity Q stated that “it would not be 

able to calculate a fair value for any of the Swaps in sufficient time to calculate an accurate NAV 

for at least several days.”  Further, in an admission of the extent of the fraud, the letter stated “that 

establishing and verifying those alternative methods may take several days or weeks” and that 

“Infinity Q and the Fund are also determining whether the fair values calculated for positions other 

than the Swaps are reliable, and the extent of the impact on historical valuations.”  Infinity Q has 

subsequently disclosed in conversations with investors that the investigation extends back to at 

least 2018.  The scheme to misstate the Funds’ NAV was not a small or isolated action, but an 

extensive and pervasive one about which each of the defendants named in this section either knew 

or were reckless in not knowing.   

The Steel Sky Investment 

165. In May 2020, the Volatility Fund made a $2.75 million investment in a private 

venture fund called Steel Sky, which the Volatility Fund has been unable to wind down.  In 

violation of the Funds’ purported controls and procedures, Steel Sky is managed by defendant 

Velissaris’ wife, Maria Velissaris.  This unorthodox and conflicted investment further establishes 

defendant Velissaris’ knowing use of the Volatility Fund for personal gain, as well as an abdication 

of the oversight responsibility of the Board and the officer defendants.   

Oversight and Price Check Controls 

166. According to a Diversified Fund Registration Statement, the Board provided 

reasonable oversight of the Diversified Fund’s NAV calculation.  The Valuation Committee of the 

Board was required to ensure that “[s]uch securities are valued at their respective fair values as 

determined in good faith by each Adviser, and the Valuation Committee gathers and reviews Fair 
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Valuation Forms that are completed by an Adviser to support its determinations, and which are 

subsequently reviewed and ratified by the Board.”  Similarly, Infinity Q and the Administrator 

were tasked with reviewing and ensuring the accuracy of the Funds’ NAV, which was purportedly 

audited by the Auditor.  Defendants either failed to employ the valuation procedures, policies, and 

controls as represented to investors, or knowingly misrepresented the Funds’ NAV.  

Additional Indicia of Scienter 

167. Further indications that defendants, including the Auditor, either were or should 

have been aware of the nature and extent of the fraud is evidenced by how obvious the 

manipulation scheme was to uncover.  As reported by The Wall Street Journal, one reported 

valuation was mathematically impossible, and in another instance, the disclosures show Infinity Q 

entered two nearly identical swaps contracts referencing the same index over the same period, yet 

booked a gain on one that was more than three times as large as the other – an outcome analysts 

said defied logic.  The nonsensical nature of the valuations further indicate that each of the 

defendants named in this section either knew, or should have known, about the Funds’ fraudulently 

calculated NAV.   

NO SAFE HARBOR 

168. Infinity Q’s verbal and written “Safe Harbor” warnings accompanying its forward-

looking statements issued during the Class Period were ineffective to shield those statements from 

liability. 

169. Defendants are also liable for any false or misleading forward-looking statements 

pleaded because, at the time each forward-looking statement was made, the speaker knew the 

forward-looking statement was false or misleading and the forward-looking statement was 
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authorized and/or approved by an executive officer of Infinity Q who knew that the forward-

looking statement was false. 

APPLICABILITY OF THE PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCE: 
FRAUD-ON-THE-MARKET 

170. Plaintiffs will rely, in part, upon the presumption of reliance established by the 

fraud-on-the-market doctrine in that: 

 defendants made public misrepresentations or failed to disclose material facts 
during the Class Period; 

 the omissions and misrepresentations were material; 

 the securities of the Funds were traded in an efficient market and were liquid and 
traded with moderate to heavy volume during the Class Period; 

 the securities of the Funds were covered by multiple analysts; 

 the misrepresentations and omissions alleged would tend to induce a reasonable 
investor to misjudge the value of the securities of the Funds; and 

 plaintiffs purchased, acquired, and/or sold the securities of the Funds between the 
time defendants failed to disclose or misrepresented material facts and the time the 
true facts were disclosed, without knowledge of the omitted or misrepresented facts. 

171. Based upon the foregoing, plaintiffs are entitled to a presumption of reliance upon 

the integrity of the market. 

172. Additionally, plaintiffs are entitled to the presumption of reliance established by 

the Supreme Court in Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United States, 406 U.S. 128 (1972), as 

defendants omitted material information in their Class Period statements in violation of a duty to 

disclose such information, as detailed above. 

173. Alternatively, plaintiffs can establish direct reliance because the misrepresentations 

were of fundamental importance to investors in the Funds and no reasonable investor would have 

invested in the Funds at the prices paid, or at all, if they had known the truth.  The 
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misrepresentations involved the central aspects of the Funds’ value, such as the Funds’ NAV and 

valuation policies and procedures. 

174. These material misrepresentations were uniformly relied upon by all investors in 

making their respective investment decisions. 

LOSS CAUSATION/ ECONOMIC LOSS 

175. As a result of defendants’ scheme, the Funds were overvalued throughout the Class 

Period.  Put simply, the Funds’ valuation data was false and their NAVs – which directly impacted 

the purchase price of the Funds’ securities – were artificially inflated.  Accordingly, the Funds’ 

shares were overvalued and were worth less than represented. 

176. The revelation of the facts and circumstances that defendants had misleadingly 

omitted exposed both defendants’ scheme and the overvaluation from the public.  The sharp 

decrease in value to both Funds were directly caused, in part, by revelation of defendants’ valuation 

scheme.  The revelation of defendants’ scheme revealed that investors had paid more for the Funds’ 

shares than they would have paid but for the scheme.  Ultimately, the Funds were forced into 

liquidation.  By November 8, 2021, the Diversified Fund completed the liquidation of its assets.  

Although the last reported NAV of the Diversified Fund was approximately $1.7 billion, the 

Diversified Fund only held $1.2 billion following liquidation, confirming that the NAV had been 

overstated by over $500 million.  Similarly, by October 31, 2021 the Volatility Fund completed 

the liquidation of its assets, other than a small investment in a product run by the wife of defendant 

Velissaris that she has reportedly refused to liquidate.  Although the last reported NAV of the 

Volatility Fund was $1.22 billion, the Volatility Fund only held $653 million following liquidation, 

confirming that the NAV had been overstated by $567 million. 
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177. Adding insult to injury, Infinity Q is current holding investors’ money hostage, 

withholding approximately $750 million from Diversified Fund investors and refusing to give back 

any money to Volatility Fund investors unless they release defendants from liability.  This 

improper conduct has further compounded investor damages. 

COUNT IV 

Violation of §10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 Against the Trust, the Adviser, the 
Administrator, the Individual Defendants, the Auditor, and the Volatility Master Fund 

178. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained above. 

179. This Count is asserted against defendants the Trust, the Adviser, the Administrator, 

the Individual Defendants, the Auditor, and the Volatility Master Fund, and is based upon §10(b) 

of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by the SEC. 

180. During the relevant time period, the Trust, the Adviser, the Administrator, the 

Individual Defendants, the Auditor, and the Volatility Master Fund, individually and in concert, 

directly or indirectly, disseminated or approved the false statements specified above in the 

Prospectuses, Offering Memorandum(s), Annual Reports, and other periodic filings, marketing 

materials, and communications, which they knew or deliberately disregarded were misleading in 

that they contained misrepresentations and failed to disclose material facts necessary in order to 

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 

misleading. 

181. The Trust, the Adviser, the Administrator, the Individual Defendants, the Auditor, 

and the Volatility Master Fund violated §10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 in that they: 

(a) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of material 

facts or omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of 

the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and/or (c) engaged in acts, 
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practices, and a course of business that operated as a fraud or deceit upon plaintiffs and the Class 

in connection with their purchases of the Funds’ securities. 

182. The Trust, the Adviser, the Administrator, the Individual Defendants, the Auditor, 

and the Volatility Master Fund acted with scienter in that they: (a) knew that the public documents 

and statements issued or disseminated in the name of the Trust and the Volatility Master Fund 

were materially false and misleading; (b) knew that such statements or documents would be issued 

or disseminated to investors, including plaintiffs and the Class; and (c) knowingly and substantially 

participated, or acquiesced in the issuance or dissemination of such statements or documents as 

primary violations of the securities laws.  These defendants, by virtue of their receipt of, or access 

to, information reflecting the true facts of the Funds, their control over, and/or receipt and/or 

modification of the Trust’s allegedly materially misleading statements, and/or their associations 

with the Funds which made them privy to confidential proprietary information concerning the 

Funds, participated in the fraudulent scheme alleged herein. 

183. The Individual Defendants, who are the senior officers and/or directors of the 

Funds, had actual knowledge of the material omissions and/or the falsity of the material statements 

set forth above, and intended to deceive plaintiffs and other investors, or, in the alternative, acted 

with reckless disregard for the truth when they failed to ascertain and disclose the true facts in the 

statements made by them or other personnel to investors, including plaintiffs. 

184. As a result of the foregoing, the Funds’ securities were artificially inflated during 

the Class Period.  Plaintiffs relied on the statements described above and/or the integrity of the 

market price of the Funds’ securities during the Class Period in purchasing the Funds’ securities 

at prices that were artificially inflated as a result of the false and misleading statements by the 
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Funds, the Trust, the Adviser, the Administrator, the Individual Defendants, the Auditor, and the 

Volatility Master Fund. 

185. Had plaintiffs been aware that the price of the Funds’ securities had been artificially 

and falsely inflated by defendants’ misleading statements and by the material adverse information 

which defendants failed to disclose, as alleged herein, plaintiffs and the Class would not have 

purchased the Funds’ securities at the artificially inflated prices that they did, or at all, and would 

not have retained such securities. 

186. As a result of the wrongful conduct alleged herein, plaintiffs and the Class have 

suffered damages in an amount to be established at trial. 

187. By reason of the foregoing, the Trust, the Adviser, the Administrator, the Individual 

Defendants, the Auditor, and the Volatility Master Fund have violated §10(b) of the Exchange Act 

and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder and are liable to plaintiffs and the Class for the substantial 

damages which were suffered in connection with their purchases of the Funds’ securities. 

COUNT V 

Violation of §20(a) of the Exchange Act Against the Adviser,  
the Individual Defendants, Bonderman, and IQME 

188. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained above. 

189. During the Class Period, the Adviser managed and controlled the business affairs 

of the Funds and was a control person of the Funds. 

190. During the Class Period, Potter, Velissaris, and Lindell participated in the operation 

and management of the Funds and Infinity Q, and conducted and participated, directly and 

indirectly, in the conduct of the Funds’ and Infinity Q’s business affairs.  Because of their senior 

positions, they knew, had access to, or recklessly disregarded the adverse non-public information 

regarding the Funds’ and Infinity Q’s business practices. 
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191. As officers and/or directors, the Individual Defendants each had a duty to 

disseminate accurate and truthful information with respect to the Funds’ financial condition and 

results of operations, and to correct promptly any public statements issued by the Funds or Infinity 

Q which had become materially false or misleading. 

192. Bonderman and IQME, by virtue of their ownership of over 25% of the Adviser, 

are each a control person of the Adviser. 

193. Because of their positions of control and authority, the Adviser, Individual 

Defendants, Bonderman, and IQME were able to, and did, control the contents of the various 

periodic reports, press releases, and public filings which the Trust and Infinity Q disseminated in 

the marketplace.  The Adviser, the Individual Defendants, Bonderman, and IQME exercised their 

power and authority to cause the Trust and Infinity Q to engage in the wrongful acts complained 

of herein.  The Adviser, the Individual Defendants, Bonderman, and IQME, therefore, were 

controlling persons of the Trust and Infinity Q within the meaning of §20(a) of the Exchange Act.  

In this capacity, they participated in the unlawful conduct alleged, which artificially inflated the 

market prices of the Funds’ securities. 

194. Each of the Adviser, the Individual Defendants, Bonderman, and IQME, therefore, 

acted as a controlling person of the Trust and Infinity Q.  By reason of their senior management 

positions and/or being directors, and/or their ability to control the Trust and Infinity Q, each of the 

Adviser, the Individual Defendants, Bonderman, and IQME had the power to direct the actions of, 

and exercised the same to cause, the Trust and Infinity Q to engage in the unlawful acts and conduct 

complained of herein.  Each of the Adviser, the Individual Defendants, Bonderman, and IQME 

exercised control over the general operations of the Trust and Infinity Q and possessed the power 
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to control the specific activities which comprise the primary violations about which plaintiffs and 

the Class complain. 

195. By reason of the above conduct, the Adviser, the Individual Defendants, 

Bonderman, and IQME are liable to plaintiffs and the Class pursuant to §20(a) of the Exchange 

Act, in an amount to be determined at trial. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs respectfully pray for judgment as follows: 

A. Declaring and determining that defendants violated the Securities Act and 

Exchange Act by reason of the acts and omissions alleged herein; 

B. Awarding plaintiffs compensatory damages against all defendants, jointly and 

severally, in an amount to be proven at trial together with prejudgment interest thereon; 

C. Awarding plaintiffs reasonable costs and expenses incurred in this action, 

including, but not limited to, attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by consulting and testifying expert 

witnesses; 

D. Awarding rescission or a rescissory measure of damages for Class members who 

purchased  securities issued by the Funds during the Class Period; and 

E. Granting such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 
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JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury. 

DATED:  February 17, 2022 
ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN 
 & DOWD LLP 
SAMUEL H. RUDMAN 
DAVID A. ROSENFELD 
ROBERT M. ROTHMAN 

 

s/ Samuel H. Rudman 
 SAMUEL H. RUDMAN 
 

58 South Service Road, Suite 200 
Melville, NY  11747 
Telephone:  631/367-7100 
631/367-1173 (fax) 
srudman@rgrdlaw.com 
drosenfeld@rgrdlaw.com 
rrothman@rgrdlaw.com 

 
ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN 
 & DOWD LLP 
ERIC I. NIEHAUS  
BRIAN E. COCHRAN 
655 West Broadway, Suite 1900 
San Diego, CA  92101 
Telephone:  619/231-1058 
619/231-7423 (fax) 
ericn@rgrdlaw.com 
bcochran@rgrdlaw.com 

 
BOIES SCHILLER FLEXNER LLP 
JOHN T. ZACH 
55 Hudson Yards, 20th Floor 
New York, NY 10001 
Telephone:  212/446-2300 
212/446-2350 (fax) 
jzach@bsfllp.com 

 
Counsel for Plaintiffs 
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Date

Acquired Price

Abrams, Ronald 

09/28/2020 9,938 $13.08

1/15/2021
A

23 $12.68

Agarwal, Rohit

09/09/2020 528 $13.02

1/15/2021
A

1 $12.68

Aurand, Barbara - Acct 1

09/09/2020 1,687 $13.02

1/15/2021
A

4 $12.68

Aurand, Barbara - Acct 2

09/09/2020 1,989 $13.02

1/15/2021
A

5 $12.68

Baldwin, David

08/27/2020 12,172 $12.92

1/15/2021
A

47 $12.68

Bartle, Liza

11/18/2020 4,342 $12.78

1/15/2021
A

10 $12.68

Berg, Nancy

08/27/2020 6,165 $12.92

1/15/2021
A

24 $12.68

The Elaine L. Blodgett Revocable Trust

09/10/2020 9,456 $13.02

1/15/2021
A

22 $12.68

SCHEDULE A

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

Type/Amount of

Securities Acquired
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Elaine Blodgett 

09/10/2020 4,598 $13.02

11/06/2020 600 $12.94

1/15/2021
A

11 $12.68

1/15/2021
A

1 $12.68

The William R. & Ann-Marie Bond Family Trust

09/10/2020 7,947 $13.02

1/15/2021
A

18 $12.68

Boyd, William

09/14/2020 4,411 $13.00

1/15/2021
A

10 $12.68

Buzdygon, Maureen

09/30/2020 4,686 $13.12

1/15/2021
A

11 $12.68

Calvin Adkins Irrevocable Trust

08/25/2020 18,595 $12.96

1/15/2021
A

86 $12.68

Campanelli, Julie

09/09/2020 3,448 $13.02

1/15/2021
A

8 $12.68

The Lee Carter Revocable Trust

08/25/2020 25,462 $12.96

1/15/2021
A

118 $12.68

Centrella, Margaret

09/14/2020 3,519 $13.00

1/15/2021
A

8 $12.68

Centrella, Mark

09/24/2020 2,812 $13.14

12/17/2020 574 $12.67

1/15/2021
A

6 $12.68
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Chovonec, Michael Joseph

09/29/2020 3,476 $13.10

1/15/2021
A

8 $12.68

Clark, Jeannice

08/27/2020 1,134 $12.92

11/11/2020 2,100 $12.84

1/15/2021
A

4 $12.68

1/15/2021
A

8 $12.68

Cleary, Patricia

11/06/2020 1,127 $12.94

1/15/2021
A

3 $12.68

Connor, Richard Louis 

09/29/2020 768 $13.10

1/15/2021
A

2 $12.68

Crane, Carolyn

09/29/2020 2,433 $13.10

1/15/2021
A

6 $12.68

Crane, Patrick - Acct 1

09/29/2020 413 $13.10

1/15/2021
A

1 $12.68

Crane, Patrick - Acct 2

09/29/2020 2,600 $13.10

11/10/2020 1,324 $12.83

1/15/2021
A

6 $12.68

1/15/2021
A

5 $12.68

Cross, Ryan

10/23/2020 1,381 $13.02

12/15/2020 787 $12.68
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Dallas, George 

09/24/2020 4,149 $13.14

1/15/2021
A

9 $12.68

Sofia Dattani UTMA

12/08/2020 1,253 $12.72

Davies, Joy

08/27/2020 9,213 $12.92

1/15/2021
A

36 $12.68

Decker, Henry J.

09/14/2020 1,735 $13.00

1/15/2021
A

4 $12.68

Delcollo, Christie L.

09/30/2020 2,952 $13.12

1/15/2021
A

7 $12.68

Dempsey, Gary

09/24/2020 3,574 $13.14

11/06/2020 699 $12.94

1/15/2021
A

8 $12.68

1/15/2021
A

2 $12.68

Dobis, Jonathan

06/11/2020 5,689 $13.18

1/15/2021
A

52 $12.68

Dwyer, Mary Alice

09/09/2020 11,225 $13.02

1/15/2021
A

26 $12.68

Emptage, Mark - Acct 1

09/04/2020 1,156 $13.08

1/15/2021
A

3 $12.68
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Emptage, Mark - Acct 2

09/04/2020 4,039 $13.08

1/15/2021
A

9 $12.68

Ferry, Phyllis

09/04/2020 3,877 $13.08

1/15/2021
A

9 $12.68

Flyer, Susan - Acct 1

11/10/2020 9,742 $12.83

1/15/2021
A

38 $12.68

Flyer, Susan - Acct 2

12/17/2020 586 $12.67

Gass, Annette - Acct 1

09/10/2020 1,676 $13.02

1/15/2021
A

4 $12.68

Gass, Annette - Acct 2

09/10/2020 1,690 $13.02

1/15/2021
A

4 $12.68

Geuder, Emily

11/10/2020 5,845 $12.83

1/15/2021
A

23 $12.68

The Sara H. Geuder Revocable Trust

09/16/2020 13,450 $13.01

1/15/2021
A

31 $12.68

The Richard A. Givens, II Revocable Trust

09/04/2020 13,165 $13.08

1/15/2021
A

30 $12.68
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The Itzi H. Guerra-Woerner Revocable Trust

09/10/2020 10,008 $13.02

1/15/2021
A

23 $12.68

Gunton, Howard

09/04/2020 21,300 $13.08

12/17/2020 1,596 $12.67

1/15/2021
A

49 $12.68

Haas, Karl - Acct 1

09/18/2020 11,980 $13.02

1/15/2021
A

28 $12.68

Haas, Karl - Acct 2

09/18/2020 15,858 $13.02

12/11/2020 2,126 $12.69

12/22/2020 3,562 $12.63

1/15/2021
A

37 $12.68

Hausmann, Keith - Acct 1

11/06/2020 844 $12.94

1/15/2021
A

2 $12.68

Hausmann, Keith - Acct 2

11/06/2020 2,749 $12.94

1/15/2021
A

6 $12.68

Hausmann, Keith - Acct 3

09/10/2020 1,047 $13.02

1/15/2021
A

2 $12.68

Hoglen, John

09/04/2020 10,820 $13.08

11/06/2020 1,274 $12.94

12/17/2020 886 $12.67

1/15/2021
A

25 $12.68

1/15/2021
A

3 $12.68
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Hubbard, Natalie - Acct 1

11/06/2020 1,397 $12.94

1/15/2021
A

3 $12.68

Hubbard, Natalie - Acct 2

09/10/2020 1,630 $13.02

1/15/2021
A

4 $12.68

Iorii, Brent 

06/10/2020 1,765 $13.02

1/15/2021
A

15 $12.68

Iorii, Janine

12/02/2020 7,805 $12.81

Iorii, Lawrence

12/02/2020 4,292 $12.81

Just, William R.

08/19/2020 3,322 $12.94

1/15/2021
A

13 $12.68

Kelleher, Frances

09/10/2020 10,328 $13.02

1/15/2021
A

24 $12.68

Keller, Wayne

09/10/2020 3,685 $13.02

1/15/2021
A

9 $12.68

Kende, Frances

09/11/2020 8,033 $13.03

1/15/2021
A

19 $12.68
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 Paul Kende Rev Trust

09/11/2020 4,747 $13.03

1/15/2021
A

11 $12.68

Knowlton, Susan 

11/17/2020 2,371 $12.81

1/15/2021
A

6 $12.68

Langer, Michael

09/08/2020 3,602 $13.04

1/15/2021
A

8 $12.68

LaPenta, Lori

09/30/2020 2,196 $13.12

1/15/2021
A

5 $12.68

Leffers, Jo Ann Galluccio.

10/01/2020 11,293 $13.06

1/15/2021
A

26 $12.68

Lewittes, Mark - Acct 1

09/14/2020 13,131 $13.00

1/15/2021
A

30 $12.68

Lewittes, Mark - Acct 2

09/14/2020 1,656 $13.00

1/15/2021
A

4 $12.68

Lynch, Ann

09/04/2020 1,268 $13.08

1/15/2021
A

3 $12.68

Lynch, Mark

09/04/2020 1,897 $13.08

1/15/2021
A

4 $12.68
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Lynch, Michele

10/23/2020 14,592 $13.02

1/15/2021
A

34 $12.68

Margolin, Marcia - Acct 1

09/04/2020 4,463 $13.08

1/15/2021
A

10 $12.68

Margolin, Marcia - Acct 2

09/04/2020 1,721 $13.08

1/15/2021
A

4 $12.68

Margolin, Richard H.

09/04/2020 3,304 $13.08

1/15/2021
A

8 $12.68

Markiewicz, Robert

09/11/2020 3,505 $13.03

1/15/2021
A

8 $12.68

McCarthy, Barry

09/11/2020 5,892 $13.03

1/15/2021
A

14 $12.68

McDonough, Christine

09/11/2020 4,322 $13.03

1/15/2021
A

10 $12.68

McDonough, Joseph

09/11/2020 687 $13.03

1/15/2021
A

2 $12.68

Minuti, Barbara

09/29/2020 2,442 $13.10

1/15/2021
A

6 $12.68
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Minuti, Joseph

12/01/2020 3,107 $12.87

Minuti, Joseph & Barbara

09/29/2020 4,426 $13.10

1/15/2021
A

10 $12.68

Mock, Cecile

09/11/2020 3,842 $13.03

1/15/2021
A

9 $12.68

Monagle, Daniel

10/13/2020 462 $12.96

1/15/2021
A

1 $12.68

Morrison, Mary - Acct 1

09/11/2020 1,041 $13.03

1/15/2021
A

2 $12.68

Morrison, Mary - Acct 2

09/11/2020 1,456 $13.03

1/15/2021
A

3 $12.68

Morrison, Scott - Acct 1

12/16/2020 2,125 $12.70

Morrison, Scott - Acct 2

11/17/2020 1,755 $12.81

1/15/2021
A

4 $12.68

Nacucchio, Joanne - Acct 1

09/14/2020 2,972 $13.00

1/15/2021
A

7 $12.68
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Nacucchio, Joanne - Acct 2

09/14/2020 1,052 $13.00

1/15/2021
A

2 $12.68

Nagarajan, Vasantha - Acct 1

09/04/2020 5,178 $13.08

1/15/2021
A

12 $12.68

Nagarajan, Vasantha - Acct 2

09/04/2020 1,190 $13.08

1/15/2021
A

3 $12.68

Newman, Gregory

07/24/2020 1,863 $13.00

1/15/2021
A

17 $12.68

Newton, Margaret

09/11/2020 3,604 $13.03

1/15/2021
A

8 $12.68

Ohnmacht, Joanne

09/11/2020 2,305 $13.03

1/15/2021
A

5 $12.68

O'Malley, Thomas

09/04/2020 5,358 $13.08

1/15/2021
A

12 $12.68

Passa, Robin

07/27/2020 31,517 $12.98

1/15/2021
A

319 $12.68

Philipp, David

10/02/2020 3,977 $13.07

1/15/2021
A

9 $12.68
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Philipp, Tracey

09/30/2020 2,270 $13.12

1/15/2021
A

5 $12.68

Rev. Trust of J.D. and DJ Prillaman.

09/04/2020 4,148 $13.08

1/15/2021
A

10 $12.68

Rayl, Mimi

11/03/2020 2,085 $13.12

11/06/2020 3,444 $13.12

1/15/2021
A

3 $12.68

1/15/2021
A

2 $12.68

1/15/2021
A

3 $12.68

Reilly, Teresa

09/11/2020 529 $13.03

1/15/2021
A

1 $12.68

Reine, Saul 

09/08/2020 2,733 $13.04

1/15/2021
A

6 $12.68

Roddy, Edward

09/11/2020 7,686 $13.03

12/17/2020 1,183 $12.67

1/15/2021
A

18 $12.68

Rosenfeld, Jo Anne

09/08/2020 1,914 $13.04

1/15/2021
A

4 $12.68

Rosenfeld, William - Acct 1

09/08/2020 1,946 $13.04

1/15/2021
A

4 $12.68

Case 1:22-cv-00896-RPK-SJB   Document 1   Filed 02/17/22   Page 77 of 84 PageID #: 77



Rosenfeld, William - Acct 2

09/08/2020 1,681 $13.04

1/15/2021
A

4 $12.68

Rossi, Angelo

09/04/2020 1,056 $13.08

1/15/2021
A

2 $12.68

Rupar, Joan

11/09/2020 3,205 $12.88

1/15/2021
A

12 $12.68

Samis, James - Acct 1

09/11/2020 2,196 $13.03

1/15/2021
A

5 $12.68

Samis, James - Acct 2

09/11/2020 524 $13.03

1/15/2021
A

1 $12.68

Schiavi, Anthony - Acct 1

09/08/2020 3,531 $13.04

1/15/2021
A

8 $12.68

Schiavi, Anthony - Acct 2

09/08/2020 1,833 $13.04

1/15/2021
A

4 $12.68

Schiavi, Harry G. & Lorraine - Acct 1

09/08/2020 11,874 $13.04

1/15/2021
A

27 $12.68

Schiavi, Harry G. & Lorraine - Acct 2

09/08/2020 6,663 $13.04

1/15/2021
A

15 $12.68
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Schiavi, Harry

09/08/2020 4,722 $13.04

1/15/2021
A

11 $12.68

Schiavi, Michael F. - Acct 1

09/08/2020 4,926 $13.04

1/15/2021
A

11 $12.68

Schiavi, Michael F. - Acct 2

12/16/2020 786 $12.70

Schiavi + Dattani 401k FBO Ravi Dattani

09/08/2020 3,085 $12.96

Schill, Ruder 

08/25/2020 13,155 $12.96

1/15/2021
A

61 $12.68

Shotzberger, Daniel

09/14/2020 787 $13.00

1/15/2021
A

2 $12.68

Simpson, David

09/08/2020 14,228 $13.04

11/10/2020 1,558 $12.83

1/15/2021
A

33 $12.68

1/15/2021
A

6 $12.68

Smith, Robert

09/08/2020 4,393 $13.04

1/15/2021
A

10 $12.68
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The Thomas B. Storer Residuary Trust

09/08/2020 14,017 $13.04

11/06/2020 1,429 $12.94

1/15/2021
A

32 $12.68

1/15/2021
A

3 $12.68

Strobel, C. John

09/11/2020 2,834 $13.03

1/15/2021
A

7 $12.68

Tiongson, Anastasia

09/30/2020 5,014 $13.12

1/15/2021
A

11 $12.68

Turulski, Edward III - Acct 1

09/29/2020 1,614 $13.10

1/15/2021
A

4 $12.68

Turulski, Edward III - Acct 2

09/29/2020 1,431 $13.10

1/15/2021
A

3 $12.68

Uro, Donna

09/11/2020 4,335 $13.03

1/15/2021
A

10 $12.68

Vinson, Anne

09/08/2020 3,532 $13.04

11/06/2020 1,041 $12.94

1/15/2021
A

8 $12.68

1/15/2021
A

2 $12.68

Wagner, David

09/08/2020 6,678 $13.04
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Wagner, Helen

09/08/2020 2,163 $13.04

1/15/2021
A

5 $12.68

Wilcox, Robert

09/24/2020 6,280 $13.14

1/15/2021
A

14 $12.68

Wood, Venita

09/08/2020 4,396 $13.04

11/10/2020 1,359 $12.83

1/15/2021
A

10 $12.68

1/15/2021
A

5 $12.68

Ziegler, Edward

09/14/2020 2,623 $13.00

1/15/2021
A

6 $12.68

Ziegler, William

10/01/2020 2,112 $13.06

1/15/2021
A

5 $12.68

Zingo, Maureen

09/14/2020 3,460 $13.00

1/15/2021
A

8 $12.68

Zingo, Nicholas

06/19/2020 6,915 $13.10

1/15/2021
A

75 $12.68

Nancy Staisey and Stanley Divorski

09/08/2020 8,547 $13.04

1/15/2021
A

20 $12.68
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Date

Sold Price

Boyd, William

12/08/2020 283 $12.72

Haas, Karl - Acct 2

12/18/2020 3,552 $12.67

Wagner, David

11/09/2020 1,126 $12.88

Rayl, Mimi

11/06/2020 2,085 $13.12

Prices listed are rounded to two decimal places.

A
Credit Adjustment

Type/Amount of

Securities Sold
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16th
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